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Item 1. Business

This annual report of Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.tfee year ended January 31, 2018 contains forleanking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of Sleeurities Act of 1933, as amended, and Secti@h dflthe
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, wdnielintended to be covered by the safe harborsecrétaereby.

To the extent that such statements are not remiaibf historical fact, such statements constitoteard looking
statements which, by definition involve risks andcertainties. In particular, statements under tleetiéns;
Description of Business, Management's Discussiah Amalysis of Financial Condition and Results ofe@gions
contain forward looking statements. Where in anywérd looking statements, the Company expresses an
expectation or belief as to future results or evestich expectation or belief is expressed in daibd and believed

to have a reasonable basis, but there can be naase that the statement of expectation or belikfesult or be
achieved or accomplished.

The following are factors that could cause actesllts or events to differ materially from thosei@pated, and
include but are not limited to: general economiigaificial and business conditions; changes in angpiance with
governmental regulations; changes in tax laws;thadtost and effects of legal proceedings.



You should not rely on forward looking statementsthiis annual report. This annual report contaimsvard
looking statements that involve risks and uncetién We use words such as “anticipates,” “beligvgdans,”
“expects,” “future,” “intends,” and similar exprésas to identify these forward-looking statemerRsospective
investors should not place undue reliance on tf@seard looking statements, which apply only aghe date of
this annual report. Our actual results could diffeaterially from those anticipated in these forwknaking

statements.

Although we believe that the expectations refledtedhe forward-looking statements are reasonalée cannot
guarantee future results, levels of activity, perfance or achievements. Except as required by caighéi law,
including the securities laws of the United States,do not intend to update any of the forward-logkstatements
to conform these statements to actual results.

Our financial statements are stated in U.S. Doll@$$) and are prepared in accordance with UnitedeS
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

In this annual report, unless otherwise specifediddollar amounts are expressed in US dollarsadhkferences to
“common shares” refer to the common shares in apital stock.

As used in this annual report, the terms “we”, jusur” and “our company” mean Pivot Pharmaceuschic.,
unless otherwise indicated.

General Overview

We are a development stage pharmaceutical andceutieal company. We were incorporated in the Prwwviof
British Columbia, Canada under the name “649186. Bt@d.”, on June 10, 2002. On September 9, 2003, we
changed our name to “Xerxes Health Corp.” and oneJd6, 2007, we changed our name to “Neurokine
Pharmaceuticals Inc.”.

Effective June 4, 2014, we filed with the Britislol@mbia Registrar of Companies a Form 11, NoticAladration,
wherein we increased our authorized share capitath f500,000,000 common shares without par valuarto
unlimited number of common shares without par valliee increase of authorized capital was approwedur
stockholders at the annual and special meetingdreltline 3, 2014.

On September 26, 2014, our company held a speaigting of stockholders to approve the removal of ou
company's Pre-Existing Company Provisions, the eéaton of our current Articles and the adoptiohnew
Articles and to approve a reverse stock split @lthsis of up to one new common stock for everyd@@ommon
stock.
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Effective October 8, 2014, we filed with the BritisColumbia Registrar of Companies a Form 11, Noti€e
Alteration, wherein we removed our Pre-Existing @amy Provisions.

Effective April 7, 2015, we filed with the BritisBolumbia Registrar of Companies a Form 11, Noticaltration,
wherein we changed our name to "Pivot Pharmacdsitice.".

Effective at the opening of trading on April 20,1%) as approved by FINRA, our company effectedvarse stock
split of our issued and outstanding common shamngb® basis of 10 old common stock for 1 new comstonk.

On November 20, 2015, we completed the acquisitibindUS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“IndUS”), a Delaevar
corporation, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan efgelr and Acquisition Agreement dated as of Noverdbe
2015 among our company, Pivot Pharma U.S. Inc., vaolly owned subsidiary, IndUS and Sindu Research



Laboratories Pvt Ltd. As consideration for the ase, we issued 4,512,500 shares of common stokloeember

23, 2015 and 237,500 shares of common stock onrBleee4, 2015 and granted 41,833 stock options potso

the Agreement and Plan of Merger. As part of thiuisition, we appointed Dr. Pravin Chaturvedi asmew Chief
Executive Officer and Director. On September 111720we completed an exchange agreement whereby we
exchanged with Dr. Chaturvedi 100% of its sharesca@hmon stock of IndUS and IndUS net liabilities fo
3,800,000 shares of common stock of Pivot, uporckviiir. Chaturvedi resigned as Chief Executive @ffiand
Director.

On September 12, 2017, we entered into a licerangement with Altum Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Altunafereby
we were granted worldwide rights to BiPhasix Traarstal Drug Delivery Technology (“BiPhasix Technojty
for the delivery and commercialization of cannallisp cannabidiol (“CBD”), and tetrahydrocannabi(&fHC")
based products. Financial consideration included:

« Issuance of 2,500,000 shares of common stock ectafé date of agreement

« Issuance of 2,500,000 shares of common stock adtRipon Health Canada Natural Product Nur
(“NPN") approval;

« Royalties on annual gross sales; and

o For pharmaceutical products, milestone paymentslgayupon first Investigative New Drug Appro
upon positive outcome of Phase Il trial in firsdication, and upon New Drug Application approval.

On September 23, 2017, we entered into a collaiboratnd license agreement with SolMic GmbH (“Solthic
whereby we will acquire worldwide rights to SolnscSolubilisation Technology for the development and
commercialization of cannabinoid-containing natueatracts. Milestones include payments upon théovahg
developments: 1) Regulatory approval of a natueallth product; 2) First approval of an investigativew drug
application for a pharmaceutical product; 3) Pesithutcome of a Phase Il clinical trial of a phacmatical product

in the first indication; and 4) Approval of a Newud Application for a pharmaceutical product by te Food and
Drug Administration. Other consideration includesa@les milestone upon aggregate net sales of $5@D@&nd
royalties on aggregate net sales.

On December 19, 2017, we commenced trading on éimadian Securities Exchange under the symbol "PVOT"

On February 28, 2018, we completed the acquisitbERS Holdings, LLC (“ERS”) pursuant to an Exchang
Agreement dated as of February 10, 2018 among Platmaceuticals Inc. ("Pivot"), ERS and the memludr
ERS. As consideration for the purchase, we paiB&33 in cash on closing and will pay an additich283,333
six and twelve (12) months after closing for tatath payment of $1 million. In addition, we alssuisd 5,000,000
shares of our common stock and will pay royaltiasfuture net sales. ERS has developed a patentbddiegy
called “RTIC” Ready-To-Infuse-Cannabis, relatingthe transformation of cannabis oil into powder ifaiusion
into a variety of food and beverage products suEltapsules, K-Cups, stick packs, baked mixes, dighiots,
protein shakes, topicals, lotions, and bottled bayes.

On March 2, 2018, we completed the acquisition bfu@iermic, LLC (“Thrudermic”) and worldwide righte

Thrudermic’s patented Transdermal Nanotechnologyttie development and commercialization of transdér
cannabinoids pursuant to an Exchange Agreement dateof March 2, 2018 among Pivot, Dr. Joseph Bskgpyv
Dr. Leonid Lurya and Thrudermic. As consideratiam the purchase, we paid $1 in cash on closingissukd
500,000 shares of our common stock.

Our principal executive office is located at 127538V 6th Avenue, Vancouver, B.C. Canada V6H 1A6. Our
telephone number is (604) 805-7783.
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Our Current Business

Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. is a biopharmaceutioaigany engaged in the development and commerdializaf
therapeutic pharmaceuticals and nutraceuticalgjusimovative drug delivery platform technologies.

Our company focuses on pharmaceutical developmérgraprietary drug delivery technologies for muléip
indications using small molecules, biological armtamical (e.g. cannabinoids) products to treat unmedical
needs. During our year ended January 31, 2018,mizeinsed a patented topical transdermal drugveisfi
technology platform, BiPhasix, and an oral drugwel technology, Solmic Micelle, for delivery ofnabinoids.
Subsequent to January 31, 2018, we have also addihie Thrudermic Transdermal Nanotechnology (tramsal)
and the Ready-To-Infuse Cannabis technology.

Our fully-owned subsidiaries, Pivot Green StreanaldheSolutions Inc. (“PGS”) and Pivot Naturals, LI((Pivot

Naturals”) (formerly, ERS), acquired subsequentiamuary 31, 2018, focus on the research, develdapraad
commercialization of cannabinoid based nutracelstiddGS will generate data to support the safetlyedficacy of
cannabinoids as Natural Health Product (“NHPs”)oaflined in Health Canada Regulations in order taken
particular health claims. Health Canada publishesNatural Health Products Regulations (“NHPR”) avhset out
the requirements governing the sale, manufacturekgming, labelling, importation, distribution astbrage of
NHPs.

According to Health Canada, the objective of theR¥Hs to provide reasonable assurance that prodffeted for
sale in Canada are safe, efficacious and of higiityuPGS may also follow applicable and harmodieegulations
for product development and commercialization i th5, European Union and Asia Pacific regions. rAlévely,
PGS will commercialize certain cannabinoid prodweith a Licensed Producer and/or Licensed Distdbuats per
the regulations concerning Access to Cannabis fedibal Purposes Regulations (“ACMPR”) since certgtive
ingredients in cannabinoids remain restricted umilv legislation permits ease of development asttidution in
2018.

Lastly, PGS may also develop products containingnabinoid active ingredients obtained from indasthiemp

according to the Industrial Hemp Regulations (“IHIREermitting such products provided they are sadirfitem

industrial hemp. Otherwise stated, this meanstti@plants and plant parts of the genera Canntitddeaves and
flowering heads of which do not contain more tha8#® THC w/w, and includes the derivatives of sutdnts and
plant parts.

PGS’s pipeline targets indications such as cano@partive care, pain and inflammation, women’s séxu
dysfunction, dermatology and eye disease.

Our overall strategy includes the following:

1. Acquire market-ready natural health produasfthird-parties for rebranding and re-sale;

2. Acquire cannabinoid-based food additives fedival consumer sales;

3. Develop cannabinoid-based natural health mtsdusing our BiPhasix topical platform technology;

4. Develop pharmaceutical products deliveredgusimr BiPhasix topical platform technology;

5. Obtain partnerships witHealth Canada approved Authorized Licensed Perduand/or Licenst
Distributors, which can provide restricted and mestricted cannabinoids as per the ACMPR or the; IHR

6. Acquire novel proprietary drug delivery tecltogies, for example, metered dose, intesal

suppositories;

7. Make an application at the appropriate time to aeqhlealth Canada’s Authorized Licensed Prodt
and Licensed Dealers licenses as per the ACMPR,

8. Out-license our platform technologies to Lieeth Producersrolicensed Distributors and other d
developers;

9. Secure and develop further intellectual proper

10. Opportunistically acquire later stage drug candigdhat provide new treatment options to addresge!
medical needs in health care; and

11. Establish partnerships with large and specialtyplaeutical companies and/or biotechnology comgs



to collaboratively develop and/or commercialize products.
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Our Research and Development Strategies

Our management team has implemented a busines®dnamt cost conscious approach to product researth
development by focusing on development of novaiapies to address unmet needs in health care.eSearch and
development strategy will apply novel drug deliveptions for new and/or existing drugs or NHPs.

For a drug to be successful it must be both effizecand acceptably safe. Before a drug may be eoniably
marketed, it must be scrutinized and approved Ipjicgble health authorities (such as Health Carsanththe FDA
in the United States) in each country or jurisdictivhere it is sought to be sold. In pharmaceutieakarch and
development, clinical trials are conducted to asske safety and efficacy of the drug and the tiatse collected
for such new drugs. Health authorities then scizgithe pre-clinical and clinical data and detemmibpased on the
results, whether a drug may be sold to the pulslimilarly, clinical trials can only take place onsatisfactory
information has been gathered on the quality ofgteduct and its non-clinical safety, and appraeatonduct
clinical trials has been granted by the approptigalth authority in the country where the triabtheduled to take
place.

Clinical trials involving new drugs are commonlassified into four phases. Each phase of the dppgoaal

process is treated as a separate clinical triad. drag development process will normally proceedugh all four

phases over many years. If the drug successfullggsathrough Phases I, 1l and Ill, it will usudly approved by
the national regulatory authority for use in thegml population. Phase IV trials are ‘post appfastadies. Due to
the considerable cost that may be required to cet@@l full series of clinical trials, the burdenpafying for all the
necessary people and services is usually bornédggonsor, who may be the pharmaceutical or Wiotdogy

company that developed the drug that is the sulgédhe study. Since the diversity of roles mayesd the
resources of the sponsor, clinical trials are ofteanaged by outsourced partners such as contraetrch
organizations. Furthermore, approval rates for beugs at each clinical trial stage are prohibitvidw, which

may require the sponsor to finance additionaldrtalabandon the drug under development altogether.

We will also develop products regulated under CaisaNatural Health Products Guidance and suppaitng with
clinical based data as per current regulations.

Pre-clinical safety studies for pharmaceutical ¢tPNproduct development are ongoing to advanceast ksvo of
our product candidates.

Our Platform Technologies

BiPhasix Transdermal Drug Delivery Technology (Toptal Platform)

Pivot has acquired worldwide rights from Altum fiis patented topical transdermal drug delivery tedbgy
platform, or BiPhasix, which we will use for thelidery and commercialization of cannabinoid, caridad
(“CBD”) and tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) based pumts.

The BiPhasix technology has the potential to deldregs less invasively than by injections. It dies the potential
to topically deliver therapeutic amounts of drugghwbetter absorption rates, where creams, ointsnemt
conventional liposomes have not been effective.

Dermal Barrier and Challenges

The skin is often the subject of intensive dernwgal therapy. However, except for certain low ewoilar weight
compounds, it is seldom viewed as a route of delifer systemically acting drugs. This is due patt the fact
that, by design, the skin is a formidable barr@rpenetration by external agents and the traditiansenal of




creams, ointments and gels have not proven thepséivbe effective in delivery. In order to realdit target site
within the underlying layers of the skin or beyotid skin to the systemic circulation, topical drugsst first
penetrate the stratum corneum, the outermost lafyére skin. It is this layer which is consideredkte the rate-
limiting barrier to drug absorption.
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For dermatological applications where the goabisréat the skin, the residence time of drugs enttrget tissue
should be of sufficiently long duration since ramgstemic absorption may limit the therapeutic oese and
contribute to systemic side effects. This lattesecamay be the fate of many small molecules forradlah

conventional vehicles. In some cases, it is defsirabd possible to achieve systemic delivery oflsmalecules via
the transdermal route (for example, nicotine). Hesvelarger molecules, whether intended for dertogtoal or

systemic delivery, would normally not gain entrybed the stratum corneum. The goal is to have a dafivery

system that does not irritate or damage the skindvafter repeated usage in patients.

Pivot will use BiPhasix as the next generation atepted liposomal delivery system where a numbéeatfires of
liposomes are greatly improved. In contrast toiti@ohl liposomes that entrap a single, agueous@haur system
is a complex system where the lipid bilayers enbragh aqueous and oil phases in the form of alsztetiemulsion.
BiPhasix is constructed with multi-compartmentpldivesicles, each comprising of aqueous comparsremd bi-
layer compartments in addition to the following quré features of this patented delivery system: Néice
compartments and oily compartments.

These additional features make it possible to aehgreater formulation versatility than previoualyainable with
traditional creams, gels, ointments or conventidipaisomal delivery systems. Thus, the BiPhasixvéey system
combines the advantages of liposomes and microstomgl, offering a wider range of formulation opsofor a
variety of drug substances:

«  Water soluble compounds;
« Lipid soluble compounds;
o Proteins;

« Peptides; and

o Plasmids.

Technical Facts of BiPhasix
BiPhasix is a dermal delivery system for macro-rooles and has the following characteristics:

« Flexible and able to deliver both lipophilic anddhgphilic molecules;

« Vesicles are composed of phospholipid bilayersnifxt from pro-liposomal gel) which entraps an oil-in
water submicron emulsion; and

« Hydrophilic active pharmaceutical ingredients areorporated into the aqueous phase of the oikdte
emulsion, whereas lipophilic active pharmaceuticgtedients can be incorporated into the oil plaidbe
submicron emulsion.

& .
&
Structure, assembly and properties of BiPhasixygggran active pharmaceutical ingredient include:

Vesicles consist of concentric phospholipidyers;
Cationic submicron emulsion droplets;

Cationic surfactant micelles; and

A water phase.

PwobdE
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Additional facts regarding the BiPhasix delivergtgm include:

o The amount of drug that can be incorporated inclygintities at the microgram to milligram levels;

o  The size of molecules formulated are approximad@y daltons (“Da”) to 100 kilodaltons (“kDa”);

« Loading capacity range from 30-70%;

« Increased stability of proteins are provided;

« No organic solvents are used in the proc

« No specialized manufacturing equipment are reqt

« BiPhasix products are easily scalable using stahglaarmaceutical industrial equipment; and

« BiPhasix formulated product have been reviewed byti$e Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), t

European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) and the The Gemnfgederal Institute for Drugs and Med
Devices (BfArM).

Delivery Mechanisms

The delivery of the BiPhasix vesicles is achievgdhe uptake of the vesicles and encapsulatedidtaghe skin or
mucosa via the lipid rich channels, followed byesse of drug from the vesicles in a formulationtauled

manner. The result may be either a rapid cutan&amnsit time to produce primarily transdermal deti of the
drug, or depot formation within the skin with sloelease for primarily dermal delivery of the drdpe following

is a hypothetical diagram showing penetration eflilphasic vesicles into the skin for drug delivery

BiPhasix liposomes and transportation through Kie @n light blue)

_l.‘.,;‘ :‘

Key Advantages of BiPhasix
The key advantages of BiPhasix are:

o Alternative routes: BiPhasix can serve as an atere dosage form to injectables by providing
invasive routes of administration, such as dertrahsdermal, nasal, vaginal and rectal.

« Controlled release: BiPhiascan be formulated to effect varying degreesisdue penetration and rate
release at the target site, in accordance withsaeteclinical goals.

» Bioavailability studies: As shown in the tables dwel BiPhasix can significantly enhance
bioavailability of many drugs, leading to improvelthical outcomes.
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- Stability: As shown in the above tables, BiPhasis hdemonstrated excellent stability with n



therapeutic agents tested, especially proteinsgtwhie characteristically unstable in traditionahicles
Vulnerable drugs can be shielded from degtiadah BiPhasix, thereby enhancing their clinicakfulnes
and commercial viability. BiPhasix is compatiblelwvmost plastics and other container-closure system

« Solvent-free and no animal product: BiPhasix isrfolated with biocompatible matelsa Neither organ
solvents nor ingredients of animal origin are uiseis manufacture.

« Manufacturing feasibility: Clinical supplies andmamercial batches can be prepared using conven
manufacturing equipment and container closure BysteSgcialized equipment and extensive ca
investment are not required.

- Patented technology: The BiPhasix patent pendicigniglogy provides market exclusivity for new NHF
prescription drug products containing Cannabindo@BD and THC.

« Clinical experience: As shown in the above tables, theh&ix delivery system has been tested in
and EMA approved trial settings delivering largelecole interferon alpha 2b to women to treat t
induced cervical neoplasia.
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Thrudermic Transdermal Nanotechnology (Topical Plaform)

Pivot has acquired, in March 2018, the worldwidghts to Thrudermic’s patented Transdermal Nanotelcyy for
the development and commercialization of transdeaanabinoids. Developed in Israel, the Thruderhipid-

based nano dispersion technology for topical camoéds uses FDA approved materials. The technoluagy the
ability to specifically formulate individual drug® control and prolong drug release while maintagnsteady
therapeutic concentrations, The technology can leandter soluble and water insoluble drugs withchange to
the skin morphology, no sensitivity to the digestisystem, no pain from injections and no obsendkze
reactions.

Solmic Solubilization Drug Delivery Technology (Oréd Platform)

Pivot has acquired the worldwide rights to Solmi@&®lubilisation Technology for the development and
commercialization of cannabinoid-containing natueatracts. Solmic’s technology allows active indesds to
become water soluble without changing their contmsiand nature. Solubilized substances that ackeguhin
micelles are protected from degradation from lighdbmach acid, and from enzymes released in tlestinal tract.
The micellisation process results in a stable, lganous and transparent mixture, which significailyreases
uptake of fat soluble ingredients from the gut itlie blood system of fat soluble ingredients, risglin greater
bioavailability.

Ready-To-Infuse Cannabis Technology

Pivot's patented Ready-To-Infuse-Cannabis (“RTI@fpcess technology, acquired in February 2018,tesea
precise and repeatable dosing of cannabis by tansig concentrated cannabis oil into a stable, Isifiable,
odorless and flavorless powder form. The derivesvdge may then be encapsulated and infused for mise i
beverages, edibles, lotions and additional heaith @ersonal care products. The RTIC process is umwe for
manufacturing of a wide array of products, inclgdin

1. Capsules/Tablets: One of our patents is issoeduse in capsules and tablets. Another of ournpatbas
numerous claims for adding other active ingredi¢attablets and capsules, such as Melatonin or Kgirgjloba,
allowing for specific treatment for targeted effecEfficient mass production of capsules, confogmia GMP
standards is part of our core competencies and faetowing capabilities. Production of capsulesakesiuled for
the third quarter of the calendar year 2018.

2. Beverage/Additive Stick Packs: Single-servekstiacks are convenient and functional when usedhdh
beverages. Stick packs are also highly functioBedduction of stick packs is scheduled for thedtlgjuarter of the
calendar year 2018.



3. Pet Products: Our patented cannabis powdemlgitl be mass produced and packaged in bulk fordmtkumer
pet health needs. Production of pet powders iscadbd for the third quarter of calendar year 2018.

4. Lotions and Topical Creams: Our patented loéind topical technology will be mass produced arckaged for
consumer health needs. Production of lotions apidabcreams is scheduled for the first quartezadéndar 2019.
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Our Product Development Initiatives

Our product development initiatives will addressngt medical needs in health care.

GLOBAL ESTIMATED

DELIVERY MARKET PRODUCT
PRODUCT TECHNOLOGY INDICATION SIZE @ LAUNCH
PGS-N001 Solmic Solubilisate Cancer supportive care (CINV) (chermaucec >$1B 2018
Oral nausea and vomiting)
PGS-N002 Solmic Solubilisate Restless leg syndrome >$2B 2018
Oral
PGS-N003 Solmic Solubilisate Pain and inflammation (for opioid withdrawal — >$15B 2018
Oral
PGS-N004 Solmic Solbilisate Cancer supportive care (mucositis relief) >$12B 2018
Oral
PGS-N005 BiPhasix / Topical Female sexual dysfunction (HSDD) (hypoac >$6B 2019
sexual desire disorder)
PGS-N006 BiPhasix / Topical Pain and inflammation (jointghioid  >$20B 2018
withdrawal)
PGS-N007 BiPhasix / Topical Dermatology (skin irritation/redness/ itching)  >$13B 2018
PGS-N008 BiPhasix / Topical Eye disease (glaucoma, intra-ocular pressur >$3B 2019
PGS-N009 Thrudermic / Topical Pain and inflammation (opioid withdrawal) >$15B 2018
PGS-NO10 Solmic Solubilisate Migraine  (nausea, vomiting, dizzine >$10B 2019
Oral sensitivity to light, sounds and smells)

(1) Derived from IMS data

Clinical Trial Phases (for Pharmaceuticals ProductOnly)

The following section describes the most commorsphaof clinical drug trials with reference to thimical trial
requirements that we anticipate will be requireddach of our pharmaceutical products in the fuamé funding
permitting.

Pre-Clinical Trials

Pre-clinical trials involven vitro (test tube) an¢h vivo (animal) experiments using wide ranging dosesefstudy
drug to obtain preliminary efficacy, toxicity andamacokinetic information. Such tests assist phagutical
companies in deciding whether a drug candidate gs38s scientific merit for further development a&s a
investigational new drug. In addition, formulatiand dosage regimen work studies will need to belected.

Phase 0
Phase 0 is a recent designation for exploratorst iin human trials conducted in accordance withEDA’'s 2006
Guidance on Exploratory Investigational New Drubege trials are generally used for novel anticadoggs.



Distinctive features of Phase 0 trials include ddeninistration of single subtherapeutic doses (slos¢ intended to
treat diseases) of the study drug to a small nurobaubjects (10-15) to gather preliminary datatlom agent’s
pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics.

Phase |

Phase | trials are the first stage of drug testinguman subjects. Normally, a small group of Heaitolunteers (20-
50) will be selected. This phase includes trialsigieed to assess the safety, tolerability and &ffetthe drug in
relation to the human body, including how it is @ied, distributed, metabolized and eliminated Iy body.
These trials are often conducted in an inpatieinic;lwhere the subject can be observed by fulktistaff. The
subject who receives the drug is usually observiill several half-lives of the drug have passed.

Phase | trials also normally include dose-rangiog dose escalation) studies so that the appropdase for
therapeutic use can be found. The tested ranges&sdwill usually be a fraction of any dose thatses harm in
animal testing.

Phase | trials most often include healthy volurgephowever, real patients are used in some ciramoss, such as
when patients have an end-stage disease and laek eatment options. This exception to the rukestoften
occurs in oncology (cancer) and HIV drug trialslivdeers are paid an inconvenience fee for the timag spend in
the volunteer center. Pay ranges from a small atnafumoney for a short period of residence to gdaramount of
up to approximately $6,000 depending on the lengthe volunteer’s participation in the trial.
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Phase I

Once the initial safety of a study drug has bearfioned in Phase | trials, Phase Il trials are perfed on larger
groups (20-300) and are designed to assess howtkesldrug works, as well as to continue Phase etgaf
assessments using a larger group of volunteerpatiehts. When the development process for a neg #@ils, this
usually occurs during Phase Il trials when the dsutjscovered not to work as planned or to haxi teffects.

Phase Il studies are sometimes divided into Pha@sand Phase IIB. Phase IlA is specifically desigine assess
dosing requirements (how much of the drug shouldjiwen), while Phase IIB is specifically designedstudy
efficacy (how well the drug works at the prescriloede(s)).

Some trials combine Phase | and Phase Il, anthddistefficacy and toxicity.

All of our planned anticancer products will needuttdergo Phase Il clinical trials. Completion oédb trials is
subject to our ability to obtain adequate financing

We will not establish a firm start date until wésesufficient financing, which there is no guaegnthat we will be
able to do. The trial protocol for our Phase llthas been developed with input from our clinedyisors.

Phase Il

Phase Il studies are randomized controlled mualtiter trials on large patient groups (300-3,000nwmre,
depending upon the disease or medical conditiosiedd), and are intended to definitively assessefffectiveness
of the drug as compared to the current “gold stedideatment. Because of their size and compagbtilong
duration, Phase lll trials are the most expenginag-consuming and difficult trials to design amghrespecially in
therapies for chronic medical conditions.

It is common practice that certain Phase Il triaday continue while a regulatory submission is pegdt the
appropriate regulatory agency. This allows pati¢ntsontinue to receive possibly lifesaving drugsiluhe drug
can be obtained commercially. Other reasons fofopaing additional trials at this stage may includabel
expansion” (to show the drug is suitable for addidl types of patients/diseases beyond the origisalfor which



the drug was approved for marketing), obtainingitimtthl safety data, or to support marketing clafimsthe drug.
Studies in this phase are categorized by some auewpas “Phase I1IB studies”.

While not required in all cases, it is typicallypexted that at least two successful Phase lltridll be necessary
to demonstrate a drug’s safety and efficacy to inbégproval from appropriate regulatory agencieghsas the
FDA in the United States, the Therapeutic Goods ixthtration in Australia or the European Medicirggency in
the European Union, for example.

Once a drug has proved satisfactory after Phaggdls, the trial results are usually combineaiatlarge document
containing a comprehensive description of the naghand results of human and animal studies, matufag
procedures, formulation details and shelf life. sThollection of information makes up the regulatetyomission
that is provided for review to the appropriate datury authorities in different countries. They iew each
submission, and, it is hoped, give sponsors apptovaarket the drug.

Most drugs undergoing Phase 1l clinical trials danmarketed under FDA norms with proper recommgams
and guidelines, but the drugs must be recalled idimtely from the market if any adverse effects apgorted.
While most pharmaceutical companies refrain from fhractice, it is not abnormal to see many druggengoing
Phase Il clinical trials in the market.

We anticipate that all of our current planned peidwill require us to undertake the conduct ofdehlil clinical
trials; however, we lack sufficient information égstimate the costs or timeframe required to coradely Phase Ill
clinical trials at this time. Our ability to pursughase Il trials will be subject to our ability tbtain adequate
financing and successfully complete earlier triiases for the products in question.
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Phase IV

A Phase IV trial is also known as a post-markesuogveillance trial. Phase IV trials involve safetyrveillance
(pharmacovigilance) and ongoing technical suppbdra @rug after it receives permission to be soldage 1V
studies may be required by regulatory authoritiesiay be undertaken by a sponsoring company fopetitive or
other reasons (for example, the drug may not haen lested for interactions with other drugs, orcertain
population groups such as pregnant women, who alikely to subject themselves to trials). The safet
surveillance is designed to detect any rare or-teng adverse effects over a much larger patieptjadion and
longer time period than was possible during thesBHathrough 11l clinical trials. Harmful effectdstovered by
Phase IV trials may result in a drug no longer fesald or being restricted to certain uses.

We are unable to accurately anticipate at this tivhether our current planned products will requisgo undertake
Phase IV clinical trials. Similarly, we are unalbeaccurately anticipate at this time what the asttimeframe to
complete those trials might be. Our ability to pgrsany Phase IV trials which may be required obushich we

may undertake voluntarily will be subject to ourilié to adequately finance those trials and to cassfully

complete Phase Il trials.

Other

Manufacturing

We have limited experience in, and do not own féed for, manufacturing any products or produahdidates.
Although we intend to continue to rely on contratanufacturers to produce our products for bothicdinand
commercial supplies, we will oversee the productanthose products and do not anticipate relying amy

particular contract manufacturer exclusively.

If we obtain FDA approval in the United States arketing application approval outside the Unitedt& for any
of our product candidates, we plan to rely on awitmanufacturers to produce sufficient quantifiedarge-scale



commercialization. These contract manufacturers lvél subject to extensive government regulatioregutatory
authorities in the markets that we intend to sem@uire that drugs be manufactured, packaged areleld in
conformity with current Good Manufacturing Pracic€¢GMP”) as set by the FDA. In this regard, wempla

engage only contract manufacturers who have thalilify to manufacture drug products in complianeih

current GMP in bulk quantities for commercializatioVe also intend to safeguard our intellectuapprty when
working with contract manufacturers by working omiith manufacturers who in our estimation haverargf track
record of safeguarding confidential information amldo are willing to enter into agreements with khattimpose
upon them strict intellectual property protectioaasures.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

We currently have no sales or distribution capaégdiand limited marketing capabilities. In ordecommercialize
our products, we must develop sales, marketing distitibution capabilities or make arrangements vather
parties to perform these services for us.

Competition

If any of our products receive marketing approtta¢y may compete against, and may be used in catntnwith,

well-established products that are currently usedHe treatment of their respective indicationg.tBe time we are
able to commercialize a product candidate, the atitipn and potential competition may be greated amore

direct. Several companies are focusing on new comgp® most of which are in pre-clinical or earlyapbs of
development.

We expect to compete with others on, among othegsh the safety and efficacy of our products. Cetimy
successfully will depend on our continued abiliyattract and retain skilled and experienced pewsipo identify,
secure the rights to and develop pharmaceuticalymts and compounds; and to exploit these prodants
compounds commercially before others are able ¥eldp competing products. In addition, our abititycompete
may be affected because insurers and other thitgi-payors in some cases seek to encourage thefugeneric
products making branded products less attractivmiy@rs from a cost perspective.
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Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our success will depend in part on our ability totect our products and product candidates by oioigiand
maintaining a strong proprietary position bothhe United States and in other countries. To devalapmaintain
our proprietary position, we will rely on patentofection, regulatory protection, trade secrets, vikhow,
continuing technological innovations and licensiqpgortunities.

It is our policy to require our employees, consui$a contractors, or scientific and other advistosgexecute
confidentiality agreements upon the commencementngployment or consulting relationships with us.e3é
agreements provide that all confidential informatideveloped or made known to the individual durthe
individual's relationship with us is to be kept €idential and not disclosed to third parties excepispecific
circumstances. These agreements provide that adintions related to our business that are concebyedhe
individual during our relationship shall be our kigive property. There can be no assurance, howéher these
agreements will provide meaningful protection oreguhte remedies for our trade secrets in the ewént
unauthorized use or disclosure of such information.

Government Regulations
Our current and future operations and researctdamdlopment activities are or will be subject toiaas laws and

regulations in the countries in which we conducpltamn to conduct our business, including but noitéd to the
United States, Canada, United Kingdom and potéytigrtain member countries from the European Unidrese



laws and regulations govern the research, developnsale and marketing of pharmaceuticals, taxaisorl

standards, occupational health and safety, todistances, chemical products and materials, wastageaent and
other matters relating to the pharmaceutical ingus¥/e may require permits, registrations or otaethorizations
to maintain our operations and to carry out ouureitresearch and development activities, and tpesmits,

registrations or authorizations will be subjectdgocation, modification and renewal.

Governmental authorities have the power to enfemapliance with lease conditions, regulatory reguients and
the provisions of required permits, registrationsother authorizations, and violators may be subjecivil and
criminal penalties including fines, injunctions, lmwth. The failure to obtain or maintain a requipsdmit may also
result in the imposition of civil and criminal pédti@s, and third parties may have the right to smeenforce
compliance.

We expect to be able to comply with all applicalales and regulations and do not believe that suchptiance
will have a material adverse effect on our competiposition. We have obtained and intend to ob&lippermits,
licenses and approvals required by all applicabdpilatory agencies to maintain our current openatemd to carry
out our future research and development activiiiés.are not aware of any material violations ofnpits, licenses
or approvals issued with respect to our operatiamsl we believe that we will continue to comply twill
applicable laws and regulations.

Pharmaceutical Regulatory Regimes

Regulation by governmental authorities in the Whi®tates and other countries is a significant faatothe
development, manufacture and marketing of pharntmadst All our pharmaceutical product candidated w
require regulatory approval by governmental agenpigor to commercialization. Our drug candidates subject
to rigorous pre-clinical testing and subsequentiadil trials and other premarketing approval reguients of the
FDA and regulatory authorities in other countri¢arious federal, state and foreign statutes andlagigns govern
or affect the manufacturing, safety, labeling, #ityh record-keeping and marketing of pharmacaaltiproducts.
The lengthy process of seeking required approvadiste continuing need for compliance with applieadiatutes
and regulations require the expenditure of subistar@sources. When we obtain regulatory approsahkfy of our
product candidates, the approval may be limitesciope, which may significantly limit the indicataedes for which
our product candidates may be marketed, promotetl advertised. Further, approved pharmaceuticals and
manufacturers are subject to ongoing review ansigusly unknown problems may be discovered that nesylt
in restrictions on the manufacture, sale or usgppioved pharmaceuticals or their withdrawal frw market.

Pre-Clinical Studies

Before testing any compounds with potential theuipevalue in human subjects in the United Stastisngent
governmental requirements for pre-clinical data intngssatisfied. Pre-clinical testing includes bisttvitro andin
vivo laboratory evaluation and characterization ofgafety and efficacy of a drug and its formulatiBne-clinical
testing results obtained from these studies, inotudests in several animal species, are submitigtie FDA as
part of an Investigational New Drug Application aack reviewed by the FDA prior to the commencenant
human clinical trials. These pre-clinical data mpsivide an adequate basis for evaluating bottséfiety and the
scientific rationale for initial trials in human kmteers.
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Clinical Trials

If a company wants to conduct clinical trials iretbnited States to test a new drug in humans, asstigational
New Drug (“IND") Application must be prepared andbsiitted to the FDA. The IND Application becomes
effective, if not rejected or put on clinical hddg the FDA, within 30 days of filing the applicatioln addition, an
Institutional Review Board must review and appreive trial protocol and monitor the trial on an oimgpbasis.
The FDA may, at any time during the 30 day reviesvigd or at any time thereafter, impose a clinicald on
proposed or ongoing clinical trials. If the FDA ioges a clinical hold, clinical trials may commenae



recommence without FDA authorization, and then anigder terms authorized by the FDA. The IND Apgima
process can result in substantial delay and expense

New Drug Application

After completion of clinical trials, if there is Bstantial evidence that the drug is both safe dfetteve, a New
Drug Application is prepared and submitted to tiBARor review. The New Drug Application must comtall of
the essential information on the drug gatheredhad date, including data from preclinical studied alinical trials,
and the content and format of a New Drug Applicatioust conform with all FDA regulations and guidek.
Accordingly, the preparation and submission of avNlFug Application is an expensive and major uraldrtg for
a sponsor.

The FDA reviews all New Drug Applications submittieefore it accepts them for filing and may requsktitional
information from the sponsor rather than accepéngew Drug Application for filing. In such an evetite New
Drug Application must be submitted with the addiibinformation and, again, is subject to revieiobe filing.
Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FEyins an in depth review of the New Drug Applmat By
law, the FDA has 180 days in which to conduct thigal review the New Drug Application and respotedthe
applicant. The review process is often significangéixtended by the FDA through requests for addition
information and clarification. The FDA may refeethpplication to an appropriate advisory committgeically a
panel of clinicians, for review, evaluation andeeammendation as to whether the application shoeldpproved
and the scope of any approval. The FDA is not bdunthe recommendation, but gives great weight.ttf the
FDA evaluations of both the New Drug Applicationdathe manufacturing facilities are favorable, tHe@AFmay
issue either an approval letter or an approvatiterlewhich usually contains a number of condititimst must be
satisfied in order to secure final approval. If tiBA’'s evaluation of the New Drug Application sulssion or
manufacturing facility is not favorable, the FDA yneefuse to approve the New Drug Application ougss not
approvable letter.

Fast Track Designation and Priority Review

The FDA's fast track program is intended to faatkt the development and expedite the review ofgthgt are
intended for the treatment of a serious or lifeettening condition for which there is no effectiveatment and
which demonstrate the potential to address unmeiaakeneeds for their condition. Under the fastkrarogram,
the sponsor of a new drug may request the FDA $wdate the drug for a specific indication as & fi@ck product
at any time during the clinical development of gmeduct. The FDA must determine if the product digal for fast
track designation within 60 days of receipt of sp@nsor’s request.

For a product candidate where fast track designasimbtained, the FDA may initiate review of sent of a New
Drug Application before the application is completdis rolling review is available if the applicaptovides a
schedule for the submission of the remaining infatfon and pays applicable user fees. However,ithe period
specified in thePrescription Drug User Fees Aatvhich governs the time period goals the FDA hammitted to
reviewing a New Drug Application, does not beginiltthe complete application is submitted. Additadly, the fast
track designation may be withdrawn by the FDA & #DA believes that the designation is no long@psued by
data emerging in the clinical trial process.

In some cases, the FDA may designate a produgtrfority review. A product is eligible for priorityeview, or
review within a targeted six-month time frame frtim time of acceptance of filing a New Drug Apptioa, if the
product provides a significant improvement compatedmarketed products in the treatment, diagnosis o
prevention of a disease. A fast track designatedumt generally meets the FDA's criteria for prignieview. We
cannot guarantee that any of our products will ikeca priority review designation, or if a prioridesignation is
received, that review or approval will be fasteartttonventional FDA procedures.
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When appropriate, we intend to seek fast trackgaesions for our products. We cannot predict thienaite impact,
if any, of the fast track process on the timinglikelihood of FDA approval on any of our potentjoducts.



Importantly, fast track designation does not regulthe elimination or waiver of any pre-clinical clinical trial
requirements.

Orphan Drug Designation

The FDA may grant orphan drug designation to diogended to treat a rare disease or conditionaffatts fewer
than 200,000 individuals in the United States. @rpHrug designation must be requested before stitgnét New
Drug Application. If the FDA grants orphan drug id@stion, the generic identity of the therapeutest and its
potential orphan use are disclosed publicly byRB&. Orphan drug designation does not convey angpaizige in,
or shorten the duration of, the regulatory reviewd approval process. If a product that has orpliag designation
subsequently receives FDA approval for the indigafor which it has such designation, the prodsi@rititled to a
longer market [orphan] exclusivity, which means B2A may not approve any other applications to reatke
same drug for the same indication, except in vienmjtéd circumstances, for up to seven years afieeiving FDA
approval.

The Hatch-Waxman Act

Under theDrug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoratfat of 1984, known as thelatch-Waxman Act
newly approved drugs may benefit from a statutasiqa of non-patent marketing exclusivity in theitdd States.
The Hatch-Waxman Agbrovides five years of marketing exclusivity te thirst applicant to gain approval of a New
Drug Application under Section 505(b) of tReod, Drug and Cosmetic Adbr a new chemical entity. A drug
qualifies as a new chemical entity if the FDA has previously approved any other drug containireggame active
ingredient. TheHatch-Waxman Acprovides data exclusivity by prohibiting abbreeihtNew Drug Applications,
and the submission of section 505(b)(2) applicatiovhich are marketing applications where the appli does not
own or have a legal right of reference to all tiadrequired for approval, by another company fantlaer version
of such drug during the exclusive period. Protectimder theHatch-Waxman Acwill not prevent the filing or
approval of a full New Drug Application for the saractive ingredient, although the applicant wowddéquired to
conduct its own adequate and well-controlled céihtdals to demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Any products we manufacture or distribute under Fipsrovals are subject to pervasive and contincegglation
by the FDA, including record-keeping requirements aeporting of adverse experiences with the prtsduarug
manufacturers and their subcontractors are requireegister with the FDA and, where appropriatatesagencies,
and are subject to periodic unannounced inspectignthe FDA and state agencies for compliance witirent
Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, regulatiatisch impose procedural and documentation requingésne
upon us and each third-party manufacturer we atiliz

The FDA closely regulates the marketing and proomotf drugs. A company can make only those claiteting
to safety and efficacy that are approved by the FEdilure to comply with these requirements canltés adverse
publicity, warning letters, corrective advertisiagd potential civil and criminal penalties. Phyaits may prescribe
legally available drugs for uses that are not deedrin the product’s labeling and that differ fronose tested by us
and approved by the FDA. Such off-label uses amengon across medical specialties. Physicians magJeethat
such off-label uses are the best treatment for npatignts in varied circumstances. The FDA doesegtlate the
behavior of physicians in their choice of treatnsenthe FDA does, however, restrict manufactureosnfr
communicating on the subject of off-label use.

The FDA's policies may change and additional gowent regulations may be enacted which could prewent
delay regulatory approval of our programs or otutfel product candidates, or such approval of nelications for
our future products. We cannot predict the liketiipnature or extent of adverse governmental réiguka that
might arise from future legislative or administvatiaction, either in the United States or abroath@éEuropean
Union.
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Clinical Trials



Similar to the United States, the various phaseprefclinical and clinical research in the Européamon are
subject to significant regulatory controls. The ukagory controls on clinical research in the EumpéJnion are
now largely harmonized following the implementatioh the Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC, or OT
Compliance with the national implementations of €D has been mandatory since May 1, 2004. However,
variations in member state regimes continue tategpéticularly in the small number of member sidteat have yet

to implement the CTD fully.

All member states currently require regulatory amkependent ethics committee approval of intereerai clinical
trials. European regulators and ethics committésssraquire the submission of adverse event reporisg a study
and a copy of the final study report.

Marketing Authorization

In the European Union, approval of new medicinabdoicts can be obtained through the mutual recagniti
procedure or the centralized procedure. The muiagnition procedure entails initial assessmenthleynational
authorities of a single member state and subseqeeigw by national authorities in other membetestdbased on
the initial assessment. The centralized procedacgires the submission of a single Marketing Auttadion
Application (a “MAA”) to the EMA leading to an appval that is valid in all European Union membetesalt is
required for certain medicinal products, such agdghnology products and certain new chemical iestiand is
optional, or available at the EMA's discretion, fither new chemical entities or innovative medicpraducts with
novel characteristics.

Under the centralized procedure, a MAA is submittedthe EMA. Two European Union member states are
appointed to conduct an initial evaluation of edAA. These countries each prepare an assessmeort,regich

are then used as the basis of a scientific opiofothe Committee for Medicinal Products for HumaseUlIf this
opinion is favorable, it is sent to the Europearm@ussion which drafts a decision. After consultwgh the
member states, the European Commission adoptsisiaeand grants a marketing authorization, whigtvalid
throughout the European Union and confers the saghs and obligations in each of the member stakes
marketing authorization granted by that membeestat

Advertising
In the European Union, the promotion of prescriptimedicines is subject to intense regulation anatrog

including a prohibition on direct-to-consumer adiséng. Some jurisdictions require that all prorootl materials
for prescription medicines be subjected to eithi@rpnternal or regulatory review or approval.

Data Exclusivity
For an MAA filed after October 30, 2005, Europeanidh regulators offer eight years of data exclugiduring

which generic drug manufacturers cannot file ate@tigpplications. This is followed by two years oérket
exclusivity during which generic MAAs may be reviesdv and approved but during which generic drug
manufacturers cannot launch products. The mannarhioh these new exclusivity provisions will be &eg in
practice remains far from clear and there can bessurance that our programs or our other currefititare
product candidates will qualify for such exclusyvit

Other Regulatory Requirements

If a marketing authorization is granted for our guwots in the European Union, the holder of the miimk

authorization will be subject to ongoing regulataryligations. A holder of a marketing authorizatifor our

products is legally obliged to fulfill a number obligations by virtue of its status as a Marketifgthorization

Holder (a “MAH”"). While the associated legal respiility and liability cannot be delegated, the MAt&n

delegate the performance of related tasks to fharties, provided that this delegation is apprdplyadocumented.
A MAH can therefore either ensure that it has ad#guresources, policies and procedures to fulfgl

responsibilities, or can delegate the performarfcgome or all of its obligations to others, suchdasributors or
marketing partners.
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The obligations of a MAH include:

We may

Manufacturing and Batch Release: MAHs should guashat all manufacturing operations comply v
relevant laws and regulations, applicable good rfzanuring practices, the product specifications
manufacturing conditions set out in the marketiatharization and that each batch of product isestttijo
appropriate release formalities.

Pharmacovigilance: MAHSs are obliged to monitor $ladety of products postpproval and to submit to 1
regulators safety reports on an expedited and gherimasis. There is an obligation to notify regotato
any other information that may affect the risk Hématio for the product.

Advertising and Promotion: MAHs remain responsitdeall advertising and promotion of their prodt
in the relevant jurisdiction, including promotionattivities by other companies or individuals oei
behdf. Some jurisdictions require that a MAH subjetit@omotional materials to either prior interna
regulatory review and approval.

Medical Affairs/Scientific Service: MAHs are reged to have a function responsible for dissemin
scientific and medical information on their medicinal produgisgdominantly to healthcare professior
but also to regulators and patients.

Legal Representation and Distributor Issues: MAHsrasponsible for regulatory actions or inactiof
their distribuors and agents, including the failure of distrdyatto provide a MAH with safety data witl
a timeframe that allows the MAH to fulfill its reging obligations.

Preparation, Filing and Maintenance of the Appi@atand Subsequent Marketing Auttzation: MAHs
have general obligations to maintain appropriatmms, to comply with the marketing authorizatic
terms and conditions, to submit renewal applicatiand to pay all appropriate fees to the authei
There are also general reportiobligations, such as an obligation to inform retpds of any informatio
that may lead to the modification of the marketmghorization dossier or product labeling, and yj
action to suspend, revoke or withdraw an approw#éb @rohibit or suspend the marketing of a product

hold marketing authorizations for our prddiun our own name, or appoint an affiliate or #admwration

partner to hold the marketing authorization on leinalf. Any failure by a MAH to comply with theséligations
may result in regulatory action against the MAH ait&l approvals and ultimately threaten our ability
commercialize our products.

Approva

Is Outside of the United States and the pemo Union

We will
marketin

also be subject to a wide variety of foreigegulations governing the development, manufacturd
g of our products. Whether or not FDA applor European marketing authorization has bedaimdd,

approval of a product by the comparable reguladathorities of other foreign countries must stél dbtained prior
to manufacturing or marketing the product in thosantries. The approval process varies from couiatrgountry
and the time needed to secure approval may bedamgaorter than that required for FDA approvahdEuropean

marketin

g authorization. We cannot assure you thiaical trials conducted in one country will becapted by

other countries or that approval in one country misult in approval in any other country.

Third-Party Reimbursement and Pricing Controls

General:

In the United States and elsewhere, patients’ acepharmaceutical products depends in signifipant on the
coverage and reimbursement of a product or setycthird-party payors, such as government prograrisate

insuranc

e plans and employers. Third-party payocseasingly are challenging the prices chargednfedical

products and services. It will be time consumingl &xpensive for us to go through the process okisge
reimbursement from Medicare, Medicaid and privaagges. We may be unable to achieve reimbursement fr
some payors because they may not consider our gioda be “reasonable and necessary” or cost-éféect
Furthermore, it is possible that even if payorswiténg to reimburse patients for our productsg tleimbursement
levels may not be sufficient to allow us to self products on a competitive and profitable basis.



In many foreign markets, including the countriegshie European Union, the pricing of pharmaceuticalucts is
subject to direct governmental control and to dreighbursement programs with varying price contrechanisms.
In the European Union, governments influence theepof pharmaceutical products through their pgcend
reimbursement rules and the control of nationalthegare systems that fund a large part of the obdstuch
products to consumers. The approach taken vames fnember state to member state: some jurisdictipesate
positive and/or negative list systems under whiatdpcts may only be marketed once a reimbursentéce pas
been agreed, and other member states allow congpémiéix their own prices for medicines, but moniand
control company profits. The downward pressure @aith care costs in general, particularly presicniptirugs, has
become very intense. As a result, increasingly Higtriers are being erected to the entry of newdyets, as
exemplified by the National Institute for Clinic&ixcellence in the United Kingdom which evaluates tata
supporting new medicines and passes reimbursereeainmendations to the government. In addition,omes
countries cross-border imports from low-priced nedsk(parallel imports) exert a commercial pressurericing
within a country.
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In the United States, there have been, and we expacthere will continue to be, a number of fedemnd state
proposals to implement means by which the governmem negotiate lower drug prices for Medicare biediicaid
beneficiaries. While we cannot predict whether sledfislative bills will become law, their enactmexatuld have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargadition and results of operations.

Medicare:

In the following section, all references to “CMS®fer to the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Sewic

We expect that in the United States, some or plysailonajority of the patients who are treated vathr products
will be Medicare beneficiaries. The CMS is the agewithin the Department of Health and Human Sawithat
administers both Medicare and Medicaid. Two aspefidedicare reimbursement will be relevant to products:
the availability of reimbursement for physician\éees for administration of our products and theikmbility of

reimbursement for our products themselves.

The CMS has asserted the authority of Medicaretmaover particular products or services if it detimes that
they are not “reasonable and necessary” for Medidmmeficiaries. The CMS may create a national remee
determination (a “NCD") for a product, which esiabks on a nationwide basis the indications thlith&icovered
and the frequency limits for administration of theoduct. However, for most new drugs that are lelégifor
payment, the CMS does not create a NCD. We do mowvkwvhether we will seek or obtain a NCD for anyoof
current or potential products or whether any NCDolséain will contain favorable coverage terms. Asntioned
above, if Medicare coverage for our products isilaigte, the CMS may decide to provide reimbursentbrdgugh
one of two avenues: Part B coverage for physic@miaistered drugs, or Part D coverage for outpatien
prescription drugs. Under Part B coverage, Medicgaimburses purchasers of drugs that meet threateta
requirements:

- the product is reasonable and necessary;

- the product is not usually sedfiministered and as such is incidental to a ptesigiservice in the offic
setting; and

» the administering physician bills Medicare diredtly the product.

If there is not a national coverage decision, twal Medicare contractors that are responsibladioninistering the
Part B program on a regional basis may have theratien to decline coverage and reimbursement finug or to
issue a local coverage decision (an “LCD”"). Theséicies can include both coverage criteria for theg and
frequency limits for the administration of the druthe local contractors in different areas of tlairdry may
determine that our products should be treated rikest topical patches and may deny coverage underBPar,

even if they allow coverage, may establish varyomyerage criteria and frequency limits for any pad
Furthermore, obtaining LCDs in the various regioas be a time-consuming and expensive process.



Medicare payment for physician services relateithécadministration of any of our products, if amyl] most likely

be determined according to a prospectively set gaymate, determined by a procedure code estatllishiethe
American Medical Association. These codes, calledréht Procedural Terminology (“CPT") codes, ddserihe
procedure performed and can be specific or morergéin nature. We believe that although thereeaisting CPT
codes that could be used, although a specific dodehe administration of each of our products wblle

preferable. If applicable, we plan to apply for geafic CPT code. If, at launch, a specific CPT &dd not
available, local Medicare contractors will adviskieth existing CPT code should be used for servielsted to the
administration of our products.

The CMS has been considering changes to Medicangbuesement that could result in lower payments for

physician-administered drugs, and Congress maycaissider legislation that would mandate lower fminsement
levels. A reduction in reimbursement levels coulatenially and adversely affect our revenue.
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The CMS may determine that some of our productsaoqualify for Part B coverage and should instéad
covered under the Part D outpatient prescriptiarg drenefit. Because, unlike Part B, Part D coveragaburses
patients only for the drug itself and does not feweimbursement for the physician’s administratservices
(though a physician can bill for service under Bagnd it is possible that the CMS will provide Bumoverage for
the administration of any of our products, evethd product in question is covered under Part Bysigians may
not consider our products as attractive a treatroption if they are reimbursed under Part D insteBart B. In
addition, under Part D, there are multiple typeplahs and numerous plan sponsors, each with itsformulary
and product access requirements. While the CMSuated Part D plans’ proposed formularies for pdaént
discriminatory practices, the plans have considerdiscretion in establishing formularies, estabfig tiered co-
pay structures and placing prior authorization atiwr restrictions on the use of specific produktsreover, Part
D plan sponsors are permitted and encouraged totingg rebates with manufacturers. Revenue forpsaducts
will be substantially affected by their respectfeemulary status on Part D plans and the rebataisRart D plan
sponsors are able to negotiate.

Medicaid:

Most State Medicaid programs have established peafedrug lists, and the process, criteria and fiamee for

obtaining placement on the preferred drug list iaoyn state to state. A federal law establishesimmim rebates
that a manufacturer must pay for Medicaid utiliaatof a product, and many states have establisiygolesmental
rebate programs as a condition for including a gmagluct on a preferred drug list. Submitting afemed drug list
application to each state will be a time-consumang expensive process, and it is not clear how naainyhich

state programs will accept the applications. Reuieves for these applications can vary from week&4 months
or more.

Private Insurance Reimbursement:

Commercial insurers usually offer two types of Hasemedical benefits and pharmacy benefits. Inshrivate
insurance plans, physician-administered drugs eveiged under the medical benefit. If private iresrdecide to
cover any of our products, they will reimburse tloe drug(s) and its administration in a varietywafys, depending
on the insurance plan’s revenue targets, emplaygrbanefit manager input and the contract negatiafieh their
physicians. Like Medicare and Medicaid, commergialurers have the authority to place coverage ditidation
limits on physician-administered drugs. Many privaisurers tend to adopt reimbursement methoddaoigie a
product similar to those adopted by Medicare. Raeedor our products may be materially and adveraéfgcted if
private payors make unfavorable reimbursement aessor delay making favorable reimbursement deoisi

Subsidiaries

We own 100% of the outstanding common stock of P@en Stream Health Solutions Inc., Pivot Nagyral C
and Thrudermic, LLC.



Employees and Consultants

As of May 1, 2018, we have employment contracté witr chief business officer, chief financial officas well as
our president, director and vice president of olmoly-owned subsidiaries. We currently engage irhelent
contractors in the areas of legal and auditingisesv We plan to engage independent contractotiseirareas of
preclinical toxicity studies and clinical trial exion and data management.

REPORTS TO SECURITY HOLDERS

We are required to file annual, quarterly and auirneeports, proxy statements and other informatidth the
Securities and Exchange Commission and our filengsavailable to the public over the internet at 8tecurities
and Exchange Commission’s website at http://wwwgmc The public may read and copy any materidsl fby

us with the Securities and Exchange CommissiomatSecurities and Exchange Commission’s Public reete
Room at 100 F Street N.E. Washington D.C. 2054% phblic may obtain information on the operationthod
Public Reference Room by calling the Securities Brdhange Commission at 1-800-732-0330. The SEQ als
maintains an Internet site that contains repomsxypand formation statements, and other infornmatiegarding
issuers that file electronically with the SEC, aph/www.sec.gov.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

There is substantial doubt as to whether we witittoue operations. If we discontinue operationg) gould lose
your investment.

Our financial statements have been prepared omditegy concern basis, which assumes that we wilalble to

realize our assets and discharge our liabilitiehénnormal course of business. However, as atalgadl, 2018, we
have not earned any revenues and had an accumdefiedt of $20,718,935. We anticipate that we vifitur

increased expenses without realizing sufficienenees (if any) to offset those expenses and weftirer expect to
incur significant losses for the foreseeable fut@ar ability to continue our operations is deperidmn obtaining
additional financing and generating future revena@sl no assurance can be given that we will sstdgsbe able
to do so. Accordingly, our financial statementstaomdisclosure of management’s determination tihese factors
raise substantial doubt about our ability to camgirms a going concern. Importantly, the inclusiomur financial

statements of a going concern opinion may negativepact our ability to raise future financing aachieve future
revenue. The threat of our ability to continue agang concern will be removed only when, in thénam of our

auditor, our revenues have reached a level thailesto sustain our business operations.

If we are unable to obtain additional financingnfr@utside sources and eventually generate enowgimues, we
may be forced to sell a portion or all of our asset curtail or discontinue our operations. If arfithese happens,
you could lose all or part of your investment. Gumancial statements do not include any adjustmémtsur
recorded assets or liabilities that might be neamgs§ we become unable to continue as a going &amc

We have incurred operating losses in each yearesma inception and expect to continue to incurssaibtial and
increasing losses for the foreseeable future. V8e hhve negative capital cash flows from operatingvities. If
we cannot generate sufficient revenues to openatfitably or with positive cash flow from operatiagtivities, we
may suspend or cease our operations.

We have not generated any revenue since our imcepti June 10, 2002 and we have incurred operatidgnet
losses in each year of our existence. We experieaceet loss of $121,182 for the year ended Jarkhrp018,
compared to a net loss of $6,278,207 for the yedee January 31, 2017. We expect to incur subatasutid
increasing losses for the foreseeable future aglewelop, seek regulatory approval for and commibzeisour
product candidates and pursue our other reseatll@relopment activities. If our products are natcessful in
research and development or in clinical trials, sloet gain regulatory approval or does not achiearket



acceptance, we may never generate any revenuels&/e€annot assure you that we will be profitablereif we
successfully commercialize our products. If we failgenerate sufficient revenues to operate plofitg, or if we
are unable to fund our continuing losses, you ctagd all or part of your investment.

We will require substantial additional funds to qaete our research and development activities arap@sed
acquisition, and if such funds are not availablemay need to significantly curtail or cease our igpiens.

We will require substantial funds to research, tgvetest and protect our product candidates, anddnufacture
and market any such candidates that may be approvecbmmercial sale. Based on our planned reseanch
development and commercialization activities, wéicgrate that we will require funds of approximagtei24.45

million to proceed with completing the developmamid commercialization of our products. If we do naise

sufficient funds, our plan of operation will be dged until such time as we raise sufficient fumsyided we are
able to do so. Further, the cost of carrying outaperating activities and research and developmetntities is not
fixed, and our cash levels may at any time provieetansufficient to finance them. Our financing deenay change
substantially because a number of factors whichd#feult to predict or which may be outside of rocontrol.

These include increased competition, the costscehsing existing drugs and protecting rights to proprietary
technology, the resources required to completecjmésal and clinical studies, and the length asduits of the
regulatory approval process.

We may not succeed in raising the additional fuhds we require because such funds may not beadn@ito us on
acceptable terms, if at all. We intend to seek tamtdil funding through strategic alliances or thgbuublic or
private sales of our equity securities, and we @iap obtain equipment leases and pursue oppogsirtiti obtain
debt financing in the future. If we are unable tiain sufficient funding on a timely basis, we ntagy forced to
significantly curtail or cease our operations.
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Our inability to complete our research and develepimprojects in a timely manner could have a matexdverse
effect of our results of operations, financial citiweh and cash flows.

If our R&D projects are not completed in a timedghiion, our Company could experience:

» substantial additional cost for the conduct of IBlpporting R&D activities;

» additional competition in the pharmaceutical anttareutical indications in our pipeline;

» additional delay in obtaining requisite regulatapprovals; and

« delay in obtainig future inflow of cash from financial or partneislactivities, any of which could haw
material adverse effect of our results of operatidimancial condition and cash flows.

Any products that we may develop will be requiredundergo a time-consuming, costly and burdensoree p
market approval process, and if we are unable taimlbegulatory approval for our products we mayenebecome
profitable.

Any products that we may develop will be subjecextensive governmental regulations relating toettgyment
activities, conduct of clinical trials, manufactugi and commercialization. In the United States,ewample, the
prospective therapeutic products that we intendieteelop and market are regulated by the FDA urtderdw drug
development and review process. Before such thetapgroducts can be marketed, we must obtain ates from
the FDA by submitting an investigational new drygpléication, then by successfully completing humastihg
under three phases of clinical trials, and finaysubmitting a new drug application.

The time required to obtain approvals for our pextiye therapeutic products from the FDA and o#igencies in
foreign locales with similar processes is unprexdile. We expect to be able to accelerate the apppracess and
to increase the chances of approval by using egistind approved drugs as the basis for our owmtdaby.
However, we cannot guarantee that our expectatiothde realized, and there is no assurance thaiwileever



receive regulatory approval to use our proprietsujstances, methods and processes. If we do nainahich
regulatory approval, we may never become profitable

We may not commence clinical testing for any ofospective therapeutic products and the commeweie of
any clinical study that we may conduct will depeaghificantly upon our choice of indication and opatient
population selection. If we are unable to commesiirécal testing or if we make a poor choice inrtey of clinical
strategy, we may never achieve revenues.

In order to commence clinical testing, we must ssstully complete and obtain positive scientifisuks from pre-
clinical studies and, in the case of an existinggdhat we are re-profiling for a new indicatiodpat existing pre-
clinical or early stage clinical studies to our ovasearch. If we successfully complete any clingtady of our
own, the commercial value of any such study widhsiicantly depend upon our choice of indicatior aur patient
population selection for that indication.

Our clinical trials for each drug may fail to adeapiely demonstrate the safety and efficacy of thatldate, which
could force us to abandon our product developmértgfor that drug candidate.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the comerdr sale of any of our product candidates, we must
demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expenmigelinical testing and clinical trials that egutoduct is both
safe and effective for use in each target indicat{@linical trial results are inherently difficuid predict, and the
results we have obtained or may obtain from thimdyptrials or from our own trials may not be iraive of results
from future trials. We may also suffer significaatbacks in advanced clinical trials even afteainliig promising
results in earlier studies.

Although we intend to modify any of our protocofs dngoing studies to address any setbacks, therdeao
assurance that these modifications will be adeqoiathat these or other factors will not have aatieg effect on
the results of our clinical trials. This could siggantly disrupt our efforts to obtain regulatoapprovals and
commercialize our product candidates. Furthermeeemay voluntarily suspend or terminate our clihtcals if at

any time we believe that they present an unacckptatfety risk to patients, either in the form ofiasirable side
effects or otherwise. If we cannot show that owdpict candidates are both safe and effective mceli trials, we
may be forced to abandon our business plan.
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We will rely on third parties to conduct our formatibn development, chemistry activities, as welpeessclinical
and clinical trials. If these third parties do npérform as contractually required or otherwise exteel we may not
be able to obtain regulatory approval for our pradiecandidates, which may prevent us from becomiofitable.

If we are unable to establish a sales, marketind distribution infrastructure or enter into collakations with
partners to perform these functions, we may naumeessful in commercializing our product candidate

In order to successfully commercialize any of otduct candidates, we must either develop a setisfa sales,
marketing and distribution infrastructure or eritéo collaborations with partners to perform thesevices for us.
We will require substantial resources to creatdhauctinfrastructure, and we may never possessgwmirces to do
so. For example, we may be unable to recruit ata@inrean adequate number of effective sales and etiagk
personnel or we may incur unforeseen costs and nsggein connection with developing the necessary
infrastructure.

Although we plan to develop our own sales and narjeorganizations in some markets, we intend ti@reimto

partnering, co-promotion and other distributionaagements to commercialize our products in mosketsr We
may not be able to enter into collaborations oreptable terms, if at all, and we may face competith our search
for partners with whom we may collaborate. If wes arot able to build a satisfactory sales, marketing

distribution infrastructure or collaborate with omemore partners to perform these functions, wg nw be able to
successfully commercialize our product candidatésch could cause us to cease our operations.



Our product candidates may never gain market a@oegd even if we obtain the necessary regulatory@ass,
which could prevent us from generating revenues.

Even if we receive the necessary regulatory appsaeacommercially sell our product candidates, shecess of
these candidates will depend on their acceptangehigsicians and patients, among other things. Makeeptance
of, and demand for, any product that we developcamdmercialize will depend on many factors, inchgdi

« our ability to provide acceptable evidence of sagetid efficacy;

« our ability to obtain sufficient third-party insuree coverage or reimbursement;

- the availability, relative cost and relative effigeof alternative and competing treatments;
« the effectiveness of our or our collaborators’ satearketing and distribution strategy; and
«  publicity concerning our products or competing praid and treatments.

If our product candidates fail to gain market ataape, we may be unable to generate sufficientrexeo
continue our business.

We will depend on other parties to manufacture puoduct candidates. If these parties fail to meet o
manufacturing requirements and applicable regulgtorequirements, our product development and
commercialization efforts could suffer and we mayer realize a profit.

If we obtain the necessary regulatory approvalséoket our products, we will rely on contract mautéirers as
single source suppliers for our product candidates.

Because of our planned reliance on contract mahwfars, we may also be exposed to additional risicduding
those related to intellectual property and theufail of such manufacturers to comply with stricthfexced
regulatory requirements, manufacture componentsutospecifications, or deliver sufficient componeguointities
to us in a timely manner. For example, a contraabuffacturer working on our behalf may violate theliectual
property rights of a third party in manufacturing@mponent of one of our products, and if suchotation occurs
without our knowledge, we may be held vicariougple for the acts of our contractor, incur relatedts and court
mandated damages, or become enjoined from sellimgupts which violate those third-party intelledtpeoperty
rights. Similarly, if a contract manufacturer warli on our behalf is found to be in violation of FIb& other
national regulatory standards regarding the manwfacpackaging or labeling of any of our produets, could
face any number of adverse consequences includisidyaegulatory investigations and fines, intetiops in the
flow of our products or materials, product recadisjiability to consumers regarding any of our gwots that do not
meet such regulatory requirements. If any of thesents occurs, if our relationship with any of gatential
contract manufacturers terminates, or if any suelmufacturer is unable fulfill its obligations to fos any reason,
our product development and commercialization &foould suffer and we may never realize a profit.
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We face potential product liability exposure, anty &laim brought against us may cause us to dikesburces
from our normal operations or terminate sellingstdibuting and marketing any product for which wavé
received regulatory approval. This may cause usetse our operations as it relates to that product.

The use of our product candidates in clinical $riahd the sale of any products for which we obtagulatory
approval may expose us to product liability claifnem consumers, health care providers, pharmacdutic
companies or other entities. Although we plan ttaiwbproduct liability insurance coverage for olinical trials
with limits that we hope will be customary and aulgig to provide us with coverage for foreseealksrassociated
with our product development efforts, our insuracogerage may be insufficient to reimburse us far actual
expenses or losses we may suffer.



If we obtain sufficient financing to proceed witliroplanned clinical trials, we intend to purchassurance in
amounts customary for trials comparable to our olmthat effect, we intend to consult with indugprpfessionals
to determine the optimal amount of coverage. Ireotd obtain insurance, we must subject our clinital protocol
to a full review by our eventual insurance providEne process of binding an insurance policy falimical trial
can take as long as three months.

We also plan to expand our insurance to cover dnentercial sale of products if we obtain the neagsssgulatory
approval to do so; however, the same product itgbilsks apply in those circumstances as in céhitrials.

Further, even if we are able to successfully defentselves against any potential claims, we wiely incur

substantial costs in the form of unanticipated esps and negative publicity. This could result ecréased
demand for our product candidates, the withdraviadliaical trial participants, an impaired businegputation,
revenue loss or an inability to commercialize oroduct candidates. Any of these consequences cauwise us to
cease our operations.

We face substantial competition in the therapepltiarmaceutical research and development industhjchvcould
harm our business and our ability to operate padfly.

Our industry is highly competitive, and many of quutential competitors, either alone or togethethwheir
partners, have substantially greater financial uesss, research and development programs, clintical and
regulatory experience, expertise in the protectibimtellectual property rights, and manufacturidgstribution and
sales and marketing capabilities than us. As dtréhay may be able to:

« develop product candidates and market products dhatfaster to market and thus less exper
potentially safer, and/or more effective or involw®re convenient treatment procedures than ourd
products;

« commercialize competing products before we candawmy of our product candidates;

» initiate or withstand substantial price competitiaore successfully than us;

» enjoy greater success in recruiting skilled scfentvorkers from a limited pool of available taleand

« more effectively negotiate third-party licenses atrdtegic alliances.

All of our product candidates and product developmerocesses will be subject to ongoing regulatory
requirements, and may therefore be the subjecegtilatory or enforcement action. The associatedscosuld
prevent us from achieving our goals or becominditable.

Our product candidates, clinical data, third-pamyanufacturing facilities and processes and adwvegtisnd
promotional activities for any product that recaivegulatory approval will be subject to significaaview and
ongoing and changing regulation by various regmatagencies. Our failure to comply with any regofst
requirements may subject us to administrative adétial sanctions, which may include warning letegivil and
criminal penalties, injunctions, product seizures detention, product recalls, total or partial ®rspon of
production, or the denial of pending product margtpplications.
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Even if we receive regulatory approval to markeiagicular product candidate, such approval coelddnditional
upon our conducting costly post-approval studiesoadd limit the indicated uses that we are ablamétude on our
product labels. In addition, regulatory or enforegmactions could adversely affect our ability evelop, market
and sell our prospective products successfullylardh our reputation, which could lead to reducedketademand
for such products. Consequently, the costs assacigith any such action could cause our businessiffer and
prevent us from achieving our goals or becominditatae.

Since our directors are located outside of Canagtay may be limited in your ability to enforce Caizadcivil
actions against them for damages to the value of ytvestment.



We plan to indemnify our directors and officers iaga liability to us and our security holders, arsdich
indemnification could increase our operating costs.

Our Articles allow us to indemnify our directorsdaafficers against claims associated with carryuogthe duties
of their offices. Our Articles also allow us to méurse them for the costs of certain legal defenlsemfar as
indemnification for liabilities arising under relemt securities legislation may be permitted toditectors, officers
or control persons, certain securities regulatimay deem that such indemnification is against pufdilicy and is
therefore unenforceable in that jurisdiction.

Since our officers and directors are aware that thay be indemnified for carrying out the dutiestludir offices,
they may be less motivated to meet the standagisresl by law to properly carry out such duties,alhcould
increase our operating costs. Further, if our efficand directors file a claim against us for inddication, the
associated expenses could also increase our opecaists.

Not all jurisdictions allow for the medicinal usé cannabis and those jurisdictions which allow @t reverse
their position.

Certain jurisdictions currently allow the medicinele of cannabis. Many other jurisdictions do fibiere can be no
assurance that additional jurisdictions will allelae medicinal use of cannabis or that those jwigxtis which

currently allow it will continue to do so. If eithef these events occur, then not only will ourvgito prospects in
this field be materially impacted, we may expereeaaeclining market for our products.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to maintain and enforce our prefairy intellectual property rights, we may not b@eato operate
profitably.

Our commercial success will depend, in part, omioirtg and maintaining patent protection, tradeetgarotection
and regulatory protection of our technologies ametipct candidates as well as successfully defenttiind-party
challenges to such technologies and candidatesvhke able to protect our technologies and pradiamdidates
from use by third parties only to the extent thalid’and enforceable patents, trade secrets otategy protection
cover them and we have exclusive rights to use tlim ability of our licensors, collaborators anggliers to
maintain their patent rights against third-partyaltanges to their validity, scope or enforceabilityl also play an
important role in determining our future.

In addition, our commercial success will dependpant, on maintaining patent rights we have licensed plan to
license in the future, related to products we mayket in the future. Since we will not fully contrhe patent
prosecution of any licensed patent applicationis, [itossible that our licensors will not devote shene resources or
attention to the prosecution of the licensed pasppuiications as we would if we controlled the gmsgion of the
applications ourselves. Consequently, the resufietgnt protection, if any, may not be as strongamnprehensive
as it would be had we done so.

The patent positions of biopharmaceutical compaceesbe highly uncertain and involve complex leyad factual
questions that include unresolved principles arsiligs. No consistent policy regarding the breadtltlaims

allowed regarding such companies’ patents has esddmdate in the United States, and the patamt®in outside
the United States is even more uncertain. Chamge#her the patent laws or in interpretations atept laws in the
United States or other countries may diminish thiee of our intellectual property. Accordingly, wannot predict
with any certainty the range of claims that maybewed or enforced concerning our patents or thady patents.
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We also rely on trade secrets to protect our teldgnes, especially where we do not believe pateategtion is
appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secregsdéficult to protect. While we seek to proteandidential



information, in part, through confidentiality agneents with our consultants and scientific and o#wbrisors, they
may unintentionally or willfully disclose our inforation to competitors. Enforcing a claim againghiad party

related to the illegal acquisition and use of traderets can be expensive and time consuming,hendutcome is
often unpredictable. If we are not able to mainfzatent or trade secret protection on our technesognd product
candidates, then we may not be able to exclude ettogs from developing or marketing competing prod, and
we may not be able to operate profitability.

If we are the subject of an intellectual propemfringement claim, the cost of participating in ditigation could
cause us to go out of business.

There has been, and we believe that there willicoatto be, significant litigation and demands Ifoenses in our
industry regarding patent and other intellectuabrty rights. Although we anticipate having a dalefense to any
allegation that our current product candidatesdpction methods and other activities infringe thadids and

enforceable intellectual property rights of anydhparties, we cannot be certain that a third paitiynot challenge

our position in the future. Other parties may ovatept rights that we might infringe with our protkior other

activities, and our competitors or other patenthod may assert that our products and the methed=smploy are
covered by their patents. These parties could beiagns against us that would cause us to incustautial

litigation expenses and, if successful, may requir¢o pay substantial damages. Some of our pateximpetitors
may be better able to sustain the costs of compédant litigation, and depending on the circumstaneve could
be forced to stop or delay our research, developmmeanufacturing or sales activities. Any of thessts could
cause us to go out of business.

We may in the future be required to license patigtits from third-party owners in order to developr products
candidates. If we cannot obtain those licensesf d@hird-party owners do not properly maintain orferce the
patents underlying such licenses, we may not betahinarket or sell our planned products.

We have licensed patent-protected technologies aithm Pharmaceuticals Inc. and we may also licentber

intellectual property from other third parties,wk believe it is necessary or useful to use adwitighird-party

intellectual property to develop our products. Tgtly, we would seek to negotiate and obtain amyired third

party licenses immediately following the completiof preliminary research to establish a concept pliagh of

development for a new product candidate. Howevepedding on the ongoing results and requiremenisref

clinical or clinical trials, which may unexpectediiary from our anticipated plan of development, may be

required to seek additional third-party licensesatdr stages of product development. We will dsorequired to
pay license fees, certain milestones or royaltreath to obtain such licenses, and there is noagee that such
licenses will be available on acceptable termst ill. Even if we are able to successfully obtailicense, certain
rights may be non- or co-exclusive, and this wagilce our competitors access to some of the inteisdqroperty

as us, which could ultimately prevent us from comuiadizing a product.

Upon obtaining a license, our business prospedisdepend, in part, on the ability of our licensdes obtain,
maintain and enforce patent protection on our Beenintellectual property. Our licensors may teatenour
license, may not pursue and successfully prosemyepotential patent infringement claim, may failrhaintain
their patent applications, or may pursue any lityaless aggressively than we would. Without pebtan for the
intellectual property that we license, other congsmmay be able to offer substantially similar prots for sale,
and we may not be able to market or sell our pldmpreducts or generate any revenues.

If the FDA grants one of our competitors an orplising designation for a drug and indication combionatthat is
similar to the drug and indication combination usaud targeted by one of our products, we will fagmificant
competition in marketing our product during the eseyear exclusivity period.

The FDA grants an orphan drug designation to a drignded to treat a rare disease or conditionaffatts fewer
than 200,000 individuals in the United States. Aphan drug designation must be requested befoqgoaser
submits a New Drug Application to the FDA, andhiétFDA grants such a designation the generic igeafithe
therapeutic agent and its potential orphan usealiaosed publicly by the FDA. An orphan drug desition does
not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duratipthe regulatory review and approval proceas dhdrug must
undergo; however, if a product that is the subgfctan orphan drug designation subsequently recefi2a
approval for the indication for which it has suctesignation, the product is entitled to orpharwesieity for up to



seven years after receiving FDA approval. This reeiduat the FDA may not approve any other applicatito
market the same drug for the same indication, exoegery limited circumstances.
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Therefore, if one of our competitors obtains anharpdrug designation for a drug and indication dowtiion that
is identical to the drug and indication combinata@frone of our products (i.e. the same underlyingychpplied to
the same indication), our product may not be apguider the same indication for up to seven subssigyears.

Risks Associated with Our Securities

Trading on the OTC Bulletin Board and the CanadBecurities Exchange (the “CSE”) may be volatile and
sporadic, which could depress the market price wof @mmon stock and make it difficult for our stoalkiers to
resell their shares.

Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQB servidgh@fFinancial Industry Regulatory Authority andrisded on
the CSE. Trading in stock quoted on the OTC Bull&oard or listed on the CSE is often thin and abi@rized by
wide fluctuations in trading prices, due to mangtdas that may have little to do with our operasiar business
prospects. This volatility could depress the margkéte of our common stock for reasons unrelatedgerating

performance. Moreover, the OTC Bulletin Board i¢ acstock exchange, and trading of securities enQAC

Bulletin Board is often more sporadic than the itmgdf securities listed on a quotation system N&SDAQ or a

stock exchange like Amex. Accordingly, shareholdeay have difficulty reselling any of their shares.

Our stock is a penny stock. Trading of our stocky rha restricted by the SEC’s penny stock regulatiand
FINRA's sales practice requirements, which maytlastockholder’s ability to buy and sell our stock

Our stock is a penny stock. The Securities and &xga Commission in the United States (the “SECY) d@dopted
Rule 15g-9 which generally defines “penny stockbtoany equity security that has a market pricaléined) less
than $5.00 per share or an exercise price of lems $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions.securities
are covered by the penny stock rules, which imak#itional sales practice requirements on broketeds who
sell to persons other than established customets'aatredited investors”. The term “accredited wtoe” refers
generally to institutions with assets in exces$%000,000 or individuals with a net worth in exxe$ $1,000,000
or annual income exceeding $200,000 or $300,00@Iyowith their spouse. The penny stock rules resjai broker-
dealer, prior to a transaction in a penny stockatherwise exempt from the rules, to deliver a déadized risk
disclosure document in a form prepared by the SE&mwprovides information about penny stocks arertature
and level of risks in the penny stock market. Thakbr-dealer also must provide the customer witheru bid and
offer quotations for the penny stock, the compeaosaif the broker-dealer and its salesperson inrtéresaction and
monthly account statements showing the market vafueach penny stock held in the customer’s accotim bid
and offer quotations, and the broker-dealer anéspalson compensation information, must be givernhéo
customer orally or in writing prior to effectingehransaction and must be given to the customeriting before or
with the customer’s confirmation. In addition, thenny stock rules require that prior to a transacth a penny
stock not otherwise exempt from these rules, tlkdrrdealer must make a special written deternonatiiat the
penny stock is a suitable investment for the pwehaand receive the purchaser's written agreemerhe
transaction. These disclosure requirements may haveeffect of reducing the level of trading adtivin the
secondary market for the stock that is subjechése penny stock rules. Consequently, these pd¢ocly siles may
affect the ability of broker-dealers to trade oecugities. We believe that the penny stock rulesalirage investor
interest in, and limit the marketability of, ourmmon stock.

In addition to the “penny stock” rules promulgatieyl the Securities and Exchange Commission, thenEiah
Industry Regulatory Authority has adopted ruled tieguire that in recommending an investment tastamer, a
broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds foe\ie{ that the investment is suitable for that cosr. Prior to
recommending speculative low priced securitieshtirt non-institutional customers, broker-dealerssimmake
reasonable efforts to obtain information aboutdhstomer’s financial status, tax status, investnodpgectives and



other information. Under interpretations of theates, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authoritglibves that
there is a high probability that speculative loviepd securities will not be suitable for at leasing customers. The
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority requiremembake it more difficult for broker-dealers to rewoend that
their customers buy our common stock, which mayt jour ability to buy and sell our stock.
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You will experience dilution or subordinated stomkler rights, privileges and preferences as a residl our
financing efforts.

We must raise additional capital from external searto carry out our business plan over the nextywars. To do
S0, we may issue debt securities, equity secuitiescombination of these securities; howevermag not be able
to sell these securities, particularly under currearket conditions. Even if we are successfuindifg buyers for
our securities, such buyers could demand highéstaates or require us to agree to onerous opgrativenants,
which could in turn harm our ability to operate dwsiness by reducing our cash flow and restricbingoperating
activities. If we choose to sell shares of our camrstock, this will result in dilution to our exist) stockholders. In
addition, any shares of common stock we may issay mve rights, privileges and preferences supasitiose of
our current stockholders.

We do not intend to pay dividends and there wilsthe fewer ways in which you are able to makeia ga your
investment, if at all.

We have never paid dividends and do not intendatogny dividends for the foreseeable future. Toetkient that
we may require additional funding currently notaded for in our financing plan, our funding sowscmay
prohibit the declaration of dividends. Because wendt intend to pay dividends, any gain on youestment will
need to result from an appreciation in the pricewfcommon stock. There will therefore be feweysvan which
you are able to make a gain on your investmenat i&ll. There is also no guarantee that your imaest will

appreciate.

Other Risks

Because one of our directors is located in jurtsnlis other than Canada, you may have no effecteeurse
against the director not located in Canada for amdact and may not be able to enforce judgment awitl

liabilities against this director.

One of our directors is a national and/or residgra country other than Canada, specifically thentzey. As a
result, it may be difficult for investors to enferaithin Canada any judgments obtained againstdinector,
including judgments predicated upon the civil llapiprovisions of the securities laws of Canada.

Trends, Risks and Uncertainties

We have sought to identify what we believe to ke tost significant risks to our business, but wenca predict
whether, or to what extent, any of such risks mayrdalized nor can we guarantee that we have fohtll

possible risks that might arise. Investors shouddefully consider all of such risk factors beforeakimg an
investment decision with respect to our commonkstoc

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

As a “smaller reporting company”, we are not regdito provide the information required by this Item

Item 2. Properties



We maintain a dedicated mailing address and telepheception service located at 1275 West 6th Agenu
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6H 1A6. Weoaiave access to office and meeting space for anabm
fee, on an as-used basis.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings

We know of no material, existing or pending legabqeedings against our company, nor are we invobh&é
plaintiff in any material proceeding or pendinddétion. There are no proceedings in which anywfdirectors,
officers or affiliates, or any registered or beokfi stockholder, is an adverse party or has anmahiaterest adverse
to our interest.

Iltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART I

Iltem 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock quoted on the OTCQB under the SyiVOTF". Our common stock was listed for quatati
on April 13, 2010.

The following table reflects the high and low biddrmation for our common stock obtained from Steatch and
reflects inter-dealer prices, without retail magk-umarkdown or commission, and may not necessegjyesent
actual transactions.

The high and low bid prices of our common stocktfar periods indicated below are as follows:

OTC Bulletin Board ™
Quarter Ended High Low

January 31, 2018 $ 24¢ $ 0.35¢
October 31, 2017 $ 0.5z $ 0.047
July 31, 2017 $ 0.12F $ 0.05¢
April 30, 2017 $ 014t $ 0.05¢
January 31, 2017 $ 0145t $ 0.02
October 31, 2016 $ 01 $ 0.04
July 31, 2016 $ 0378 $ 0.07¢
April 30, 2016 $ 09C % 0.2C
January 31, 2016 $ 11C$ 0.8C

(1) Over-the-counter market quotations reflect inteslde prices without retail mark-up, madiewn ol
commission, and may not represent actual transestio

As of May 1, 2018, there were approximately 81 baddof record of our common stock. As of such date,
88,055,160 common shares were issued and outstandin

Our common shares are issued in registered forniomNd Issuer Services Ltd., 760 — 777 Hornby Stree
Vancouver, BC Canada V6Z 1S4, telephone number)§5®48880, is the registrar and transfer agentofar
common shares.



Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on our comrntmok @and have no present intention of paying anjddinds
on the shares of our common stock. Our currentpadi to retain earnings, if any, for use in ouegions and in
the development of our business. Our future dividpalicy will be determined from time to time byrdooard of
directors.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Reeds from Registered Securities

Other than as set out below, we did not sell anytegecurities which were not registered underSkeurities Act
during the year ended January 31, 2018 that weretherwise disclosed on our quarterly reports om¥#10-Q or
our current reports on Form 8-K filed during theayended January 31, 2018.

On June 20, 2017, we issued 200,000 shares ofoosnmon stock to a third party for services rendeW#d.relied
on Regulation D and/or Section 4(2) of the Seasithct of 1933.

On September 28, 2017, we issued 2,500,000 shdremirocommon stock to acquire worldwide rights to
BiPhasix™ transdermal drug delivery technology floe development and commercialization of Cannaldsoi
Cannabidiol and Tetrahydrocannabinol products. @pt&nber 29, 2017, we issued 4,623,825 shares rof ou
common stock upon conversion of outstanding predcgnd accrued interest on convertible debentMiksrelied

on Regulation D and/or Section 4(2) of the Seasitct of 1933.

Effective October 17, 2017, we closed a privategtaent for an aggregate of 2,230,000 shares otaommon
stock at price of $0.10 per share, for gross prdsed $223,000. Finder's fee consisted of issuanfc200,000
common shares. On October 30 and November 2, 204 ’5sued the securities to six (6) non U.S. pergahthat
term as defined in Regulation S of the Securities & 1933), relying on Regulation S and/or Sectg®) of the
Securities Act of 1933 and one (1) U.S. persorit{asterm is defined in Regulation S of the Se@gifct of 1933)
relying upon Rule 506 of Regulation D of the Setiesi Act of 1933.

On October 26, 2017, we issued 100,000 shares ofcommmon stock pursuant to a promissory note dated
September 27, 2017. On November 2, 2017, we is92¢884 shares of our common stock for settlement of
accounts payable. On November 7, 2017, we issugi)8&hares of our common stock to a third pantyséovices
rendered. We relied on Regulation D and/or Secti@) of the Securities Act of 1933.

Effective December 15, 2017, we closed a privatéegrhent for an aggregate of 505,000 units, congistf one
common share and one half of one share purchasemwaat price of $0.20 per unit for gross proceetls
US$101,000. On November 21, 2017, we issued 380;06@mon shares and 190,000 share purchase watoants
seven (7) non U.S. persons (at that term as defimedgegulation S of the Securities Act of 1933)yireg on
Regulation S and/or Section 4(2) of the Securitiesof 1933. On December 18, 2017, we issued 1Zbg@mon
shares and 62,500 share purchase warrants to4pmof U.S. persons (at that term as defined inuR¢éign S of
the Securities Act of 1933), relying on Regulati®mnd/or Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1938der’s fee
consisted of a cash payment of $5,050 and issuari2® 250 units, consisting of one common shareaahalf of
one share purchase warrant. On December 18, 264 ¥swed 25,250 common shares and 12,625 shareagerc
warrants, related to finder’s fee, to one (1) no8.Ubersons (at that term as defined in Regul&iofthe Securities
Act of 1933), relying on Regulation S and/or Set#g2) of the Securities Act of 1933.

Effective February 28, 2018, we issued a privatceinent offering of senior secured convertible debes
("Convertible Debentures") with a conversion prafe$1.74 per common share for aggregate gross edscef
CDN$5,000,000 (the "Offering"). The Convertible Relures will bear interest at the rate of 10% paTuan,
payable quarterly, and will mature 12 months foilogvthe date of their issuance. Beginning on the tzat is four



months and one day following the issuance of thev@dible Debentures, we may force the conversibthe
principal amount of the then outstanding Convegtibebentures at the Conversion Price on not less 30 days’
notice should the daily volume weighted averagditigaprice of the Common Shares be greater thab0&2r any

20 consecutive trading days on the Canadian Stochdhge, or such other exchange our common shages a
principally traded. We relied on Regulation S af Becurities Act of 1933.

On February 28, 2018, we completed the acquisitibBRS pursuant to which we issued 5,000,000 shafresir
common stock. On March 2, 2018, we completed thguiaition of Thrudermic, and worldwide rights to
Thrudermic’s patented Transdermal Nanotechnologgyant to which we issued 500,000 shares of oumoam
stock.

On March 12, 2018, we issued 75,000 shares of canstoxk to a third party for services provided. I@arch 31,
2018, we issued 44,087 shares of our common stackupnt to employment agreements. On April 4, 2018,
issued 62,500 shares of our common stock to a garty for services provided. We relied on Regolatd and/or
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

Except as disclosed below, we do not have a stetioro plan in favor of any director, officer, coftsut or
employee of our company.

Convertible Securities

As of May 1, 2018, we had 13,620,833 outstandintjoaop to purchase shares of our common stock atiere
prices ranging from $0.05 to $1.31 and exercisabkd March 11, 2023. As of May 1, 2018, we hadstanding
warrants to purchase 265,125 shares of our commaak at exercise price of $0.35 and exercisabléd duabe 14,
2019.

Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Aiffated Purchasers

We did not purchase any of our shares of commocksto other securities during our fourth quarteioaf fiscal
year ended January 31, 2018.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

As a “smaller reporting company”, we are not regdito provide the information required by this Item

Iltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctwith our audited financial statements and #lated notes
for the years ended January 31, 2018 and Januar@I/ that appear elsewhere in this annual regddm
following discussion contains forward-looking staents that reflect our plans, estimates and bel@ts actual
results could differ materially from those discuts$e the forward looking statements. Factors thatladt cause or
contribute to such differences include, but are Imoited to those discussed below and elsewher@ighannual
report, particularly in the section entitled "RiB&ctors" of this annual report.

Our audited financial statements are stated inddnftates Dollars and are prepared in accordanite Wriited
States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Purchase of Significant Equipment



We do not intend to purchase any significant eqeiphover the next twelve months.
Personnel Plan
We do not expect any material changes in the nurabemployees over the next 12 month period (aljiowe

may enter into employment or consulting agreemauitis our officers or directors). We do and will ¢dome to
outsource contract employment as needed.
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Results of Operations

For the Years Ending January 31, 2018 and 2017

Year Ended January
31,
2018 2017

Revenue $ Nil $ Nil
Operating expenses $1,049,25' $6,023,65;'
Accretion of discounts on convertible debentures $ 105,39: $ 69,78¢
(Gain) loss on change in fair value derivative $ (204,71) $ 173,110
Gain on disposal of asset $ (609,31) $ Nil
Gain on settlements of debentures $ (246,829 $ Nil
Interest expense $ 27,388 $ 11,66
Net los: $ 121,18: $6,278,20"'

During the year ended January 31, 2018, we dispo$erir shares of common stock of IndUS and Indé$ n
liabilities for 3,800,000 shares of common stoclPofot, which resulted in a gain on disposal okass $609,311.
In addition, we recorded a gain on settlement dfetiéures related to conversion of debentures intocommon
stock, settlement of accounts payable into commntoonksand conversion of accrued management feesanto
promissory note upon the disposal of our sharésdiS common stock.

Expenses
Our operating expenses for our years ended JaBda018 and 2017 are outlined in the table below:

Year Ended Jaruary

31,
2018 2017
Depreciation and amortization $ 25,07 $ Nil
Due diligence costs $ 8,75 $ Nil
Foreign exchange loss $101,46¢ $ 194,56¢
General and administrative $344,86¢ $1,597,991)
Management fees $303,42: $4,119,23..
Professional fees $195,37: $ 111,86!
Research and development $ 70,30 $ Nil

Operating expenses for year ended January 31, @6t&ased by $4,974,397 as compared to the convearat
period in 2017. In 2017, $1,304,738 of stock-basethpensation was included in general and admitigtra
expense as a result of 700,000 common stock isueskrvices and grants of 6,320,833 options talmse our
common stock. In 2018, $148,909 of stock-based emsgtion was included in general and administrative
recognize 350,000 shares of our common stock istuékird party service providers and 100,000 stopkions



granted to members of our advisory board. Managéefees decreased by $3,815,810 from the year edalmgary
31, 2017 to the year ended January 31, 2018. 1@,2Z0000,000 options to purchase our common stoaktgd to
management. In 2018, no options were granted.

Revenue

We have not earned any revenues since our inceptidnve do not anticipate earning revenues in geoming
quarter.

Equity Compensation

Our company has a stock option plan which was adbahd approved by our shareholders on Decemb&0386,
During our fiscal year ended January 31, 2017:

e 7,250,000 stock options with exercise price of 80arnd maturity on February 22, 2021 were grant
directors, officers and consultants,

« 29,000 stock options with exercise price of $0134turity on May 2, 2021 and vesting on May 3, -
(26,000stock options), November 2, 2016 (1,000 stock amgipMay 2, 2017 (1,000 stock options)
November 2, 2017 (1,000 stock options) were gratdedconsultant, a

« 41,833 stock options with exercise price of $0.08 maturity on January 23, 2022re granted to relat
parties pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Mexgé Acquisition Agreement dated as of Novemb
2015 between our company and IndUS.
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During our fiscal year ended January 31, 2018,0@Dstock options with exercise price of $0.39 aradurity on
November 14, 2022 were granted.

We currently do not have any other equity compeéosatians or arrangements.

Liquidity and Financial Condition

Working Capital

At At
January  January
31, 31,
2018 2017
Current Assets $ 149,250 $ 129,75¢
Current Liabilities $ 429,20( $ 1,606,97')
Working Capital (Deficit) $(279,94°) $(1,477,22).
Cash Flows
Year Year
Ended Ended
January  January
31, 31,
2018 2017
Net Cash used in Operating Activiti $ (395,60:) $ (377,78
Net Cash used in Investing Activiti $ Nil $ Nil
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activiti $ 360,50( $ 398,05:

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash $ (12,809 $ 20,51




(Decrease) Increase in Cash During the Period $ (47,910 $ 40,78:

We will require additional funds to fund our budegtexpenses over the next 12 months. These fungdbenaised
through equity financing, debt financing, or ottmyurces, which may result in further dilution ire tequity
ownership of our shares. There is still no asswadhat we will be able to maintain operations &\l sufficient
for an investor to obtain a return on his investminour common stock. Further, we may continueb&
unprofitable. We need to raise additional fundghie immediate future in order to proceed with ouddeted
expenses.

Specifically, we estimate our expenses and workaqgtal requirements for the next 12 months tobfbows:

Estimated
Product Development Expenses
Development of BiPhasix Topical Cream (209g) $ 1,430,001!
Development of Thrudermic Topical Tube (20g) 1,590,001
Development of Solmic Oral Dropper Bottle (30ml) 1,040,001
Development of Ready-to-infuse Powderized Products 2,310,001
Product Registration and Regulatory 1,590,001
Data Generation to Claim Indications 3,180,001
Manufacturing and Supply 7,150,001
Sales and Marketing Costs 3,970,001
General and Administrative 1,990,001

Total: $24,250,00 )
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Based on our planned expenditures, we will reqadditional funds of approximately $24.25 million pooceed
with our business plan over the next 12 months #wed commencement of commercialization of our produc
initiatives. If we secure less than the full amoahfinancing that we require, we will not be albecarry out our
complete business plan and we will be forced ta@ed with a scaled back business plan based oawailable
financial resources.

Funds raised will be used towards the recruitmeénappropriate management and research and devefdpme
(“R&D") personnel, as well as towards product depshent expenditures. Specifically, the funds wél dsed to
cover R&D expenses associated with 1) manufactusoade-up of our products at a GMP-certified, higltency
drug manufacturing facility; 2) development and mfaeture of formulation of our products at a GMPtified
product manufacturing facility for administratiori the drug candidates in animals (for safety evédmd and
subsequently to humans 3) submission to appromeatdatory authorities for NHP registration.

We anticipate that we will incur substantial los$esthe foreseeable future. We have negative ¢asts from

current operating activities and may continue toubprofitable. Even if we carry out our expandesesrch and
development activities on our products, there isgnarantee that we will be able to market them enive any
revenues from their sale.

Although we are anticipating commercialization timenmence on some of our product initiatives overrbgrt 12
months, anticipated revenues will not be sufficienfinance our business plan. We intend to raigstal through
equity and, if necessary, debt financing. We apditg that the bulk of any additional funding weeige will be in
the form of equity financing from the sale of ownamon stock. However, we do not have any finaneimgnged
and we cannot provide any assurance that we wiklhlile to raise sufficient funds from the sale of oammon
stock to fund our operations or planned researchdavelopment activities. In the absence of suchniting, we
will not be able to carry out our planned reseamsti development activities. Even if we are succégasfobtaining
equity financing to fund our operations and reseancd development activities, there is no assurémaewe will



obtain the funding necessary to pursue any advareszhrch and development following the completibrour
planned clinical trials. If we do not continue tbtain additional financing, we may be forced to ratmn our
business plan. There is no assurance that we &illdbe to maintain operations at a level sufficfentan investor
to obtain a return on his investment in our comrsimtk.

Any modifications to our plans will be based on méactors, including the results of our R&D and #maount of
available capital. Further, the extent to whichamery out our development of planned products [geddent upon
the amount of financing available to us.

Future Financings

We will require additional financing in order toale us to proceed with our plan of operationsdiasussed
above, including approximately $24.25 million ovke next 12 months to pay for product developmseigs and
marketing and general and administrative expendesse cash requirements are in excess of our ¢wash and
working capital resources. Accordingly, we will teége additional financing in order to continue agtéons and to
repay our liabilities. There is no assurance thatarty will advance additional funds to us inerdb enable us to
sustain our plan of operations or to repay ouiillizs.

We anticipate continuing to rely on equity salesoaf common stock in order to continue to fund business

operations. Issuances of additional shares willltés dilution to our existing stockholders. Thaseno assurance
that we will achieve any additional sales of ouuiggsecurities or arrange for debt or other finagao fund our

planned business activities.

We presently do not have any arrangements for iaddit financing for the expansion of our operatioasd no

potential lines of credit or sources of financimg aurrently available for the purpose of procegdiith our plan of

operations.

Contractual Obligations

As a “smaller reporting company”, we are not regdito provide tabular disclosure obligations.
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Going Concern

We have not generated any revenues and are depenubsnobtaining outside financing to carry out operations
and pursue our pharmaceutical research and develtpmetivities. If we are unable to generate futash flows,
raise equity or secure alternative financing, wey mat be able to continue our operations and osin@ss plan
may fail. You may lose your entire investment.

If our operations and cash flow improve, managentmiieves that we can continue to operate. Howener,
assurance can be given that management’s actidhsewilt in profitable operations or an improvermén our

liquidity situation. The threat of our ability toostinue as a going concern will cease to exist amhen our

revenues have reached a level able to sustainusimess operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that draaee reasonably likely to have a current or rteffect on
our financial condition, changes in financial cdiafi, revenues or expenses, results of operatimpsdity, capital

expenditures or capital resources that is materiatockholders.

Critical Accounting Policies



The discussion and analysis of our financial cooditand results of operations are based upon amanéial
statements, which have been prepared in accordeitit¢he accounting principles generally acceptethe United
States of America. Preparing financial statemeatpires management to make estimates and assumpiian
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilitrevenue, and expenses. These estimates and agmsnate
affected by management’s application of accounpiolicies. We believe that understanding the basisraature of
the estimates and assumptions involved with thedhg aspects of our financial statements is @altito an
understanding of our financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these financial statements imfaranity with generally accepted accounting pritespin the
United States requires management to make estimatéassumptions that affect the reported amounéssets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent asswid liabilities at the date of the financial stagmts and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses dugngepiorting period. Our company regularly evaluatgimates
and assumptions related to the recoverability nffived assets, valuation of convertible debemstuassumptions
used to determine the fair value of stock-basedpamsation and derivative liabilities, and deferhecbme tax
asset valuation allowances. Our company basestiteaes and assumptions on current facts, histioeixperience
and various other factors that it believes to kesoeable under the circumstances, the results @hwbrm the
basis for making judgments about the carrying \&lofeassets and liabilities and the accrual ofscast expenses
that are not readily apparent from other sourcdse @actual results experienced by our company méerdi
materially and adversely from our company’s esteraflo the extent there are material differencéwdsn the
estimates and the actual results, future resultpefations will be affected.

Long-lived Assets

In accordance with ASC 360, “Property, Plant andifapent”, our company tests long-lived assets setagroups

for recoverability when events or changes in cirstances indicate that their carrying amount may bet
recoverable. Circumstances which could triggenéere include, but are not limited to: significargéateases in the
market price of the asset; significant adverse géarin the business climate or legal factors; actaiion of costs

significantly in excess of the amount originallypexted for the acquisition or construction of tlssed; current

period cash flow or operating losses combined withistory of losses or a forecast of continuingéssassociated
with the use of the asset; and current expectdtian the asset will more likely than not be solddisposed

significantly before the end of its estimated ukéfa. Recoverability is assessed based on theyicey amount of

the asset and its fair value, which is generaltgideined based on the sum of the undiscountedftash expected

to result from the use and the eventual disposéh®fasset, as well as specific appraisal in ceft@tances. An
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying @mhé not recoverable and exceeds fair value.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Our company records stock-based compensation ior@daece with ASC 718Compensation — Stock-Based
Compensationusing the fair value method. All transactionswhich goods or services are the consideration
received for the issuance of equity instruments areounted for based on the fair value of the damation
received or the fair value of the equity instrumisstied, whichever is more reliably measurable.

Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments that are not cifesd as equity and are not used in hedging refatiips are
measured at fair value. Subsequent changes teaflaie are recorded in the statement of operations.

Income Taxes

Our company accounts for income taxes using thet assl liability method in accordance with ASC 748come
Taxes”. The asset and liability method providest ttheferred tax assets and liabilities are recoghifce the
expected future tax consequences of temporaryreiftes between the financial reporting and taxa$assets
and liabilities, and for operating loss and taxddrearryforwards. Deferred tax assets and lidbsditare measured
using the currently enacted tax rates and lawswibbe in effect when the differences are expddtereverse. Our



company records a valuation allowance to reducerdsf tax assets to the amount that is believee titaly than
not to be realized. As of January 31, 2018 and 2607 company did not have any amounts recordeiparg to
uncertain tax positions.

Our company files federal and provincial income takurns in Canada. Our company recognizes intexredt
penalties related to uncertain tax positions ingggense. During the years ended January 31, 202G 7, there
were no charges for interest or penalties.

Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measures

ASC 820,Fair Value Measurementsequires an entity to maximize the use of obddevanputs and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs when measuring fairevai$C 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy basethe level
of independent, objective evidence surroundingitipaits used to measure fair value. A financial rinsient’s
categorization within the fair value hierarchy &sbd upon the lowest level of input that is sigaifit to the fair
value measurement. ASC 820 prioritizes the inmits three levels that may be used to measure dhiev

Level 1 -Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for whittere are quoted prices in active markets for idaht
assets or liabilities.

Level 2 -Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for whitttere are inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability such as qigieces for similar assets or liabilities in aetimarkets; quoted
prices for identical assets or liabilities in maskavith insufficient volume or infrequent transacts (less active
markets); or model-derived valuations in which ffigant inputs are observable or can be derivedggally from,

or corroborated by, observable market data.

Level 3 -Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for whiblere are unobservable inputs to the valuation otetlogy
that are significant to the measurement of thevialiue of the assets or liabilities.

Our company’s financial instruments consist priadipof cash, amounts receivable, accounts payalble accrued
liabilities, due to related parties and convertidiebenture. Pursuant to ASC 820, the fair valuewf cash is
determined based on “Level 1” inputs, which consisfjuoted prices in active markets for identicaets. We
believe that the recorded values of all of our otfieancial instruments approximate their curreair fvalues
because of their nature and respective maturitysdat durations.

36

Table of Contents

Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of our parent entity, PiRitarmaceuticals Inc., and our wholly-owned subsjdiPivot
Green Stream Health Solutions Inc., is the Canadigdlar. Our company’s presentation currency isUigedollar.

Monetary assets and liabilities are translatedgusi® exchange rate prevailing at the balance dieget Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated inidoreurrencies are translated at rates of exchangéect at the
date of the transaction. Expenses are translateavertage rates for the period. Gains and lossesngrion
translation or settlement of foreign currency deimated transactions or balances are included ini¢ermination
of income.

Results of operations are translated into our coyiggoresentation currency, US dollars, at an apgate average
rate of exchange during the year. Net assets abdities are translated to US dollars for presimbapurposes at
rates of exchange in effect at the end of the per@ains or losses arising on translation are meized in other
comprehensive income (loss) as foreign currenaystation adjustments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements



Our company has implemented all new accounting quooements that are in effect and that may imptact i
financial statements and does not believe thaethee any other new accounting pronouncementshthat been
issued that might have a material impact on itarfaial position or results of operations.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

As a “smaller reporting company”, we are not regdito provide the information required by this Item
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of PRlzarmaceuticals Inc.:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“the Cayiaas
of January 31, 2018 and 2017, the related congelidstatements of operations and comprehensivenadtoss),
stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each lid yyears in the two-year period ended January @18 2nd the
related notes (collectively referred to as thedfinial statements”). In our opinion, the finanattements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respetits, financial position of the Company as of Januzity 2018 and
2017, and the results of its operations and itk €iasvs for each of the years in the two-year pgémded January
31, 2018, in conformity with accounting principlgsnerally accepted in the United States of America.

Explanatory Paragraph Regarding Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have begmaped assuming that the Company will continue geiag
concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financiatesbents, the Company has suffered recurring losses
operations and has a net capital deficiency whather substantial doubt about its ability to cordiras a going
concern. Management's plans in regard to theseratte also described in Note 1. The financigéstants do not
include any adjustments that might result fromdbt&ome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibifith@® Company’s management. Our responsibilityissxtpress an
opinion on the Company'’s financial statements basedur audits. We are a public accounting firmseged with



the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (BldiStates) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be inddpah
with respect to the Company in accordance with Wh®. federal securities laws and the applicablesnd
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Comonsaind the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the PCAOB. Those standards require thailareand
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranceitalwvhether the financial statements are free oferi@
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Then@my is not required to have, nor were we engageerform,
an audit of its internal control over financial ogping. As part of our audits, we are required ftain an
understanding of internal control over financigboging, but not for the purpose of expressing pimion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdirancial reporting. Accordingly, we express nls opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to astessisks of material misstatement of the finahstatements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing pdoces that respond to those risks. Such procednchsded
examining on a test basis, evidence regarding h@uats and disclosures in the financial statemédis. audits
also included evaluating the accounting principlesd and significant estimates made by managemsntell as
evaluating the overall presentation of the finahsiatements. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis
for our opinion.

/sl Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.

Salt Lake City, UT
May 1, 2018
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)
January 31, January 31,
2018 2017
$ $

Assets
Current assets

Cash 64,51: 112,42:

Prepaids and other current assets 84,74. 17,337
Total current assets 149,25: 129,75¢
Security deposit - 2,90(
Intangible asset, net (Note 5) 234,56 -
Total assets 383,81° 132,65¢

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit



Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 217,92: 996,85:
Due to related parties (Note 13) 10,10« 22,57¢
Convertible debenture, net (Note 6) - 275,01:
Derivative liabilities (Note 7) - 312,54:
Promissory note (Note 8) 201,17! -
Total liabilities 429,20  1,606,97')

Stockholders’ Deficit

Common stock: Unlimited shares authorized, withgartvalue, 82,373,559 and

75,647,114 shares issued and outstanding, resplctiVote 9) 8,263,76°  7,327,58:}
Additional paid-in capital 11,816,05 11,211,03.
Accumulated other comprehensive income 593,72¢ 584,81.
Accumulated deficit (20,718,93) (20,597,75)
Total stockholders’ deficit (45,387 (1,474,32).
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit 383,81 132,65¢

Nature of operations and continuance of businesse(I1l)

(The accompanying notes are an integral part aftloensolidated financial statements)
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compsaeleemcome (Loss)
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

Year Year
Ended Ended
January January
31, 31,
2018 2017
$ $
Revenue - -
Expenses
Amortization 25,07t -
Due diligence costs 8,75( -
Foreign exchange loss 101,46t 194,56t
General and administrative 344,86¢ 1,597,991
Management fees 303,42. 4,119,23.
Professional fees 195,37: 111,86!

Research and development 70,30« -




Total expenses

Loss from operations

Other (expenses) income
Amortization of discount on convertible debentures
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivatiabilities
Gain on disposal of asset (Note 3)
Gain on settlement of debts
Interest expense

Total other income (expenses)

Net loss

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustment

Net comprehensive lo:
Net loss per share, basic and dilt

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic amtediil

1,049,25'  6,023,65.
(1,049,25) (6,023,65)
(105,39) (69,789
204,71;  (173,11(
609,31 -
246,82 -
(27,38  (11,66)
928,07: (254,55
(121,18) (6,278,20)

8,91t (160,43
(112,26) (6,438,64)

(0.00) (0.0¢)

79,898,54 75,315,28 |

(The accompanying notes are an integral part afetloensolidated financial statements)
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

Foreign
Common Additional Currency
Common Stock Stock Paid-In  Translation
Shares  Amount Issuable Capital Adjustment  Deficit Total
# $ $ $ $ $ $
Balance -January 3:
2016 74,722,10 7,054,49' 16,20¢ 6,174,60. 745,25, (14,319,54) (328,989
Common stock issui
for services 925,000 273,08¢ (16,20€) - - - 256,88:
Warrants issued wi
convertible debenture - - - 20,11 - - 20,11
Stock-based
compensation - - - 5,016,31 - - 5,016,31"
Net los! - - - - (160,439 (6,278,20) (6,438,64)
Balance -January 3:
2017 75,647,10 7,327,58 - 11,211,03 584,81: (20,597,75) (1,474,32).
Common stock issui 350,00t 98,47¢ - - - - 98,47¢



for services

Common stock issus
for settlement (
accounts payable a

accrued liabilities t
related parties 92,38« 35,15 - - - - 35,15
Capital contribution b
officers in forgiveness
liabilities - - - 552,88t - - 552,88
Common stock issu
for conversion C
debenture 4,623,82 601,09 - - - - 601,09
Common stock issu
for acquisition of licens 2,500,000  262,50( - - - - 262,50(
Common stock ar
warrants issued for cas 2,735,000  324,00( - - - - 324,00(
Common stock issu
for finder’s fee 225,25( (5,050 - - - - (5,050
Cancellation of commc
stock pursuant
disposal of asset (3,800,00) (380,000 - - - - (380,001
Stock-based
compensation - - - 52,13¢ - - 52,13¢
Net los: - - - - (8,915  (121,18) (112,26)
Balance —January 3:
2018 82,373,55 8,263,76 - 11,816,05 593,72¢ (20,718,93) (45,389
(The accompanying notes are an integral part afetloensolidated financial statements)
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)
Year Year
Ended Ended
January January
31, 31,
2018 2017
$ $
Operating activities
Net los: (121,18) (6,278,20)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Amortization 25,07t -
Amortization of discount on convertible debenture 105,39: 69,78
Common stock issued for services 98,47¢ 256,86
Fair value of stock options vested 49,60¢ 4,820,101
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatiradilities (204,71) 173,11

Gain on disposal of assets

(609,31}



Gain on settlement of debts (246,829 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Prepaids and other current assets (72,74 8,01¢

Due to related parties 9,61¢ 18,33¢

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 534,38 572,54!

Other liabilities 36,62! -
Net cash used in operating activi (395,60 (359,449
Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants 324,00( -

Proceeds from debenture 36,50( -

Proceeds from issuance of convertible debenture - 379,71t
Net cash provided by financing activit 360,50( 379,71¢
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash (12,809 20,51
Net change in cas (47,910 40,78.
Cash — beginning of period 112,42: 71,63¢
Cash — end of period 64,51: 112,42:

Supplemental cash flow disclosures (Note 13)

(The accompanying notes are an integral part afetloensolidated financial statements)
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2017

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

1. Nature of Operations and Continuance of Business

Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the “Company”) was mpooated in British Columbia under the Business
Corporations Act on June 10, 2002. On April 7, 20the Company changed its hame from Neurokine
Pharmaceuticals Inc. to Pivot Pharmaceuticals Tie Company is in the business of developing and
commercializing therapeutic pharmaceuticals andrageuticals, as well as drug delivery platform
technologies.

These consolidated financial statements have besgaped on the going concern basis, which assumes
that the Company will be able to realize its assetd discharge its liabilities in the normal coucde
business. As at January 31, 2018, the Company dtasanned any revenue, has a working capital defici
of $279,947 and an accumulated deficit of $20,738,9he continued operations of the Company are
dependent on its ability to generate future castvdl or obtain additional financing. These fact@ise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability tottwe as a going concern for a period of one frean

the issuance of these financial statements. Thessotidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments to the recorded assets or liabilitias might be necessary should the Company be utable
continue as a going concern.



2. Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements and thee@ notes of the Company are preparecdécordanc
with generally accepted accounting principles ia tnited States and are expressed in U.S. dolliée
Company’s fiscal year-end is January 31.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated finansi@tenents in conformity with generally accep
accounting principles in the United States requiresiagement to make estimates and assumptior
affect the reported amounts of assets and liasliéind disclosure of contingent assets and ligsilit tle
date of the consolidated financial statements hadd¢ported amounts of revenues and expenses dhe
reporting period. The Company regularly evaluastgrates and assumptions related to the usefuhiit
recoverability of long-lived assets, assumptiongdugo determine the fair values of stdmse:
compensation and derivative liabilities and deférireome tax asset valuation allowances. The Cow
bases its estimates and assumptions on currest fastorical experience and various otfaators that
believes to be reasonable under the circumstartbesyesults of which form the basis for mal
judgments about the carrying values of assetsiabdities and the accrual of costs and expensatséah
not readily apparent from otheowgces. The actual results experienced by the Coynpaay diffe
materially and adversely from the Company’s estawaflo the extent there are material differe
between the estimates and the actual results efudsults of operations will be affected.

(c) Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporhge financial statements of the Company and er

controlled by the Company. Control is achieved wehtte Company has the power to govern the fine
and operating policies of an entity so as to obkanefits from its activities. The consolidatingiges

include:
% of
ownership Jurisdiction
Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. Parent Canada
Pivot Green Stream Health Solutions Inc. 10C% Canada
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2017
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)
2. Significant Accounting Policieqcontinued)
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instrumewtth a maturity of three months or less at theetiof
issuance to be cash equivalents. As at Januar303B, and 2017, the Company had no cash equivalents.

(e) Intangible Asset



Intangible assets consists of costs incurred toiee@ license. Intangible assets are considendi five
assets and recorded at cost less accumulated aatiomi and accumulated impairment. Subsec
expenditures are capitalized omien they increase the future economic benefitsoeiiedl in the asst
Amortization is recorded using the straigine method and is intended to amortize the licemser its
estimated useful life of four years.

(f) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records stock-based compensati@tdardance with ASC 718, Compensation — Stock-
Based Compensation, using the fair value methotltrAhsactions in which goods or services are
consideration received for the issuance of equiiriiments are accounted for based on the fair val

the consideration received or the fair value of dlogity instrument issued, whichever is more rdji
measurable.

(g) Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instnments that are not classified as equity and araused in hedging relationsh
are measured at fair value. Subsequent changas tafue are recorded in the statement of operaim:
comprehensive income.

(h) Loss Per Share

The Company computes net loss per share in accordaitheA8C 260, Earnings Per Share. ASC
requires presentation of both basic and dilutedirgs per share (“EPS”) on the face of the conatdic
statement of operations. Basic EPS is computed ibigidg net income (loss) available to comr
shareholders (humerator) by the weighted averagehau of shares outstanding (denominator) durin
period. Diluted EPS gives effect to all dilutivetpotial common shares outstanding during the p
using the treasury stock method and convertibldepred stock using the denverted method.
computing diluted EPS, the average stock pricdtferperiod is used in determining the number ofes
assumed to be purchased from the exercise of sigtidéns orwarrants. Diluted EPS excludes all dilut
potential shares if their effect is aulilutive. As at January 31, 2018, the Company katuded 6,153,7¢
(2017 — 6,840,834) potential dilutive shares.

(i) Comprehensive Income (Loss)
ASC 220, Comprehensive Incomestablishes standards for the reporting and ajspf comprehensi
loss and its components in the consolidated firratatements. As at January 31, 2018 and 201
Company’s comprehensive income included foreigmenay translation adjustments.

() Research and Development Costs

Research costs are expensed in the periodnidnate incurred.

F-7

PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2017

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policieqcontinued)



(k) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using thet assl liability method in accordance with ASC °
“Income Taxes”. The asset ari@bility method provides that deferred tax assetsl liabilities ar
recognized for the expected future tax consequenéetemporary differences between the finar
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilittesl for operating loss and tax credit cdoywards
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measurexd ke currently enacted tax rates and laws tlilhbesin
effect when the differences are expected to revédilse Company records a valuation allowance toge
deferred tax assets the amount that is believed more likely than twobe realized. As of January
2018 and 2017, the Company did not have any ameoeatsded pertaining to uncertain tax positions.

The Company files federal and provincial incote returrs in Canada. The Company recognizes int
and penalties related to uncertain tax positiontinexpense. During the years ended January 38
and 2017, there were no charges for interest aalpes.

() Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measures

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements, requires anyetgitmaximize the use of observable inputs
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when méaguair value. ASC 820 establishes a fair v.
hierarchy based on the level oflependent, objective evidence surrounding the psiéd to measure f
value. A financial instrument’s categorization viithhe fair value hierarchy is based upon the ldwes|
of input that is significant to the fair value messment. ASC 820 pridizes the inputs into three lev
that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1

Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for whittfere are quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for whitttere are inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable for the asset or ltgbdluch as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities in active markets; quotedgsifor identical assets or liabilities in
markets with insufficient volume or infrequent tsations (less active markets); or
model-derived valuations in which significant inpuatre observable or can be derived
principally from, or corroborated by, observablerked data.

Level 3

Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for whitiere are unobservable inputs to the
valuation methodology that are significant to theasurement of the fair value of the
assets or liabilities.

The Company’s financial instruments consist priatipof cash, accounts payable, and accrued
liabilities, due to related parties and promissooye. Pursuant to ASC 820, the fair value of our
cash is determined based on “Level 1" inputs, whtichsist of quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets, and the fair value of dematiabilities is determined based on “Level 3”
inputs. The recorded values of all other finandér@truments approximate their current fair
values because of their nature and respective ityatiates or durations.
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2017

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policieqcontinued)
(m) Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the parent entity, RiPbarmaceuticals Inc., and the whatiyned subsidiar
Pivot Green Stream Health Solutions Inc., is thaead#n dollar. The Company’s presentation curres
the US dollar.

Monetary assets and liabilities are translatedgufie &change rate prevailing at the consolidated ba
sheet date. Nomonetary assets and liabilities denominated inigoreurrencies are translated at rate
exchange in effect at the date of the transactiipenses are translated at average ratethéoperioc
Gains and losses arising on translation or settieroé foreign currency denominated transaction
balances are included in the determination of ireom

Results of operations are translated into the Gowig presentation currepcUS dollars, at an appropri
average rate of exchange during the year. Net sags®d liabilities are translated to US dollars
presentation purposes at rates of exchange intedfethe end of the period. Gains or losses arisir
translation arerecognized in other comprehensive income (loss)fasign currency translatis
adjustments.

(n) Reclassifications

We have made reclassifications to certain numlegsrted in the prior year to conform to the preseor
of the current year.

(o) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Company has implemented all new accountingqumcements that are in effect and that may in
its consolidated financial statements and does hsdieve that there are any other nescountin
pronouncements that have been issued that mighd hamaterial impact on its consolidated finar
position or results of operations.

3. Disposal of Asset

On September 11, 2017, the Company completed ahaege agreement whereby the Company
exchanged with its past Chief Executive Officer #00f its shares of common stock of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, IndUS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“IndUSfyr 3,800,000 shares of common stock of the
Company (Note 9(b)). Pursuant to the exchange awet the Company has provided its former Chief
Executive Officer a promissory note (Note 8(a)jhie amount of $200,000 in discharge of all obligadi
with respect to Dr. Chaturvedi’'s accrued salargliogy $267,267 through September 11, 2017 for which
gain of $102,259 has been included in gain onesaght of debts in the statement of operations.

The disposal of IndUS resulted in a gain as follows

3,800,000 shares of common stock acquired and bedce $ 380,00(

Net liabilitiesexchanged 229,31:

Gain on disposal of asset $609,31:



The disposal of IndUS did not meet the definitidndscontinued operations as it did not represent a
strategic shift that has a major effect on the Camys operations and financial results.
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2017

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

4. Asset Acquisitions
(a) BiPhasix License

On September 12, 2017, tB@mpany entered into a licensing agreement withrAlPharmaceuticals It
(“Altum”), a party related by way of common directand officers, whereby the Company acqt
worldwide rights to the BiPhasix™ transdermal drdglivery technology for the deveiment an
commercialization of Cannabinoids, Cannabidiol ahetrahydrocannabinol products. Considere
included:

1) Issuance of 2,500,000 shares of common stock ote®der 12, 2017 valued at $247,556 (Not
and 9(c));

2) lIssuance of 2,500,000 shares of common stock aftRpon Health Canada Natural Product Nur
approval (not yet issued as of the date of thisntgp

3) Royalties on annual gross sales; and

4) For pharmaceutical products, eslone payments payable upon first Investigativen Nerug
Approval, upon positive outcome of Phase Il triafirst indication, and upon New Drug Applicat
approval. As of January 31, 2018 and the dateisfréport, no milestones have been achieved.

(b) SolMic Solubilization License

On September 23, 2017, the Company entered intollaboration and license agreement with So
GmbH (“Solmic”) whereby the Company will acquire rdwide rights to Solmic’s Solubilizatic
Technology for the development and commercializat@f cannabinoidtontaining natural extrac
Milestones include payments upon the following depments: 1) Regulatory approval of a natural tin
product; 2) First approval of an investigative newg applcation for a pharmaceutical product;
Positive outcome of a Phase Il clinical trial opharmaceutical product in the first indication; a4)
Approval of a New Drug Application for a pharmadeakt product by the US Food and D
Administration. Otherconsideration include a sales milestone upon aggeetet sales of $5,000,000
royalties on aggregate net sales, which have rext behieved as at January 31, 2018 and as of thei
this report.

5. Intangible Asset
BiPhasix

License
Cost $

Balance, January 31, 2017 -
License agreement (Note 4(a)) 247,55¢



Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 12,08:
Balance, January 31, 2018 259,63!

Accumulated Amortization

Balance, January 31, 2017 -
Amortization 25,07t

Balance, January 31, 2018 25,07t

Net book value, January 31, 2( 234,56
Net book value, January 31, 2( -

Weighted average life remaining on intangible a$se3.6 years. Future amortization for the nextrfou
years is:
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended January 31, 2017

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

5. Intangible Asset (continued)
Expiry Date $
2019 79,79:
2020 79,79:
2021 79,79:
2022 48,96¢

6. Convertible Debenture

On September 30, 2016, the Company issued a cdreedebenture with a non-related party for
$500,000 Canadian Dollars ($380,411 US Dollars ept&nber 30, 2016) (“Initial Advance”). The
debenture is secured under a General Security Ageg bears interest at 8% per annum and matures on
the earlier of:

« The date the lender demands repayment of prinaipdlinterest following an event of default,
o The date of a dissolution event,

« The date of a liquidity event, and

o March 30, 2017.

The Company may request one or more additionalrambsaof up to an aggregate amount of $1,000,000
Canadian Dollars (“Additional Advances”) provideldat the aggregate amount under the convertible
debenture does not exceed $1,500,000 Canadianrfolla

The note, including the Initial Advance and any Aiddhal Advances, is convertible into common shares
at a conversion price equal to the average closiatket price of the Company’s common stock during
the five day period leading up to the conversiote ddhe Company recorded the conversion featutbeof



convertible debenture as a derivative liabilityaatestimated fair value of $134,892 with a corresiimg
discount to the convertible debenture (Note 7).

Pursuant to the convertible loan agreement, the gaom issued 434,622 share purchase warrants to
which the lender may acquire an interest in the gamy equal to 12% of the maximum principal amount
outstanding at any time at a price of $0.10 pereshahich equates to the ten day average tradiicg pf

the Company’s common stock determined as at Septedih 2016. The Company calculated the 434,622
share purchase warrants based on the maximum mditsgprincipal balance on the convertible loan as
of September 30, 2016. The Company recorded the ghachase warrant at an estimated fair value of
$20,154 with a corresponding discount to the caiberdebenture (Note 11).

On September 18, 2017, the lender converted thstamdting principal and accrued interest of the
convertible debenture into 4,623,825 shares of comstock (Note 9(d)) of the Company at a conversion
price of $0.10. A loss on conversion of debentur&21,236 was recorded within gain on settlement of
debts in the consolidated statements of operadiodscomprehensive income. As of January 31, 208, t
carrying value of the convertible debenture is $ddnuary 31, 2017 - $275,011) which is net of debt
discounts related to conversion feature, finandaogts and warrants of $nil, $nil and $nil, respadyi
(January 31, 2017 - $94,709, $6,126 and $6,47@entively). As of January 31, 2018, interest acdroe

the convertible debenture is $nil (January 31, 20$0,307) and the fair value of the conversiotioop
derivative liability is $nil (January 31, 2017 -¥3541).
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PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended January 31, 2017

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

7. Derivative Liability
Derivative liability consists of convertible deberg with variable conversion price (Note 6). On
September 18, 2017, the convertible debenture wagetted into shares of common stock (Note 6). The

fair value of derivative liability as at January, 2018 and January 31, 2017 is as follows:

January January

31, 31,
2018 2017
$ $
September 2016 convertible debenture - 312,54
- 312,54

The fair value of derivative financial liability wadetermined using the binomial option pricing mpde
using the following assumptions:

Risk- Expectec

free Expected Life
Expected Interest Dividend (in
Volatility Rate Yield years)

As at issuance date:
September 2016 convertible debenture 29€% 0.45% 0% 0.5C




8. Promissory Note

@)

(b)

January  January

31, 31,
2018 2017
$ $
Principal (Note 8(a)) 200,00 -

Promissory Note — Former Chief Executive €ffi(Note 3)

Promissory note bears interest at 8% per aniuimcipal and accrued interest are due on thécearf: 1,
30 days after the completion of a financing ofestst $2,000,000 and (ii) September 10, 2027, peo
that if repayment occurs prior to the second ansasy date, all interest will be waived. On Feby28
2018, the Company issued senigecured convertible debentures for gross proce&d$5®00,00
Canadian dollars (Note 15). Accordingly, accruernest being waived, principal was due and repa
March 30, 2018. In accordance with ASC 470-10-488,Company has classified the nptyable as
current liability.

Promissory Note — Third Party
On September 27, 2017, the Company issued a prompisste in the amount of $400,000, bearing int
at 12% per annum and maturing on December 31, 20iBh no proeeds have been received by

Company as at January 31, 2018. As part of the igsmry note, 100,000 shares of our common
were issued (Note 9(d)).
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9. Common Stock

During the year ended January 31, 2018:

@)
(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

(®

On July 19, 2017, 200,000 shares of commackswere issued for services rendered.

On September 11, 2017, 3,800,80@res of common stock were acquired and cancpllezbiant to tr
share exchange agreement (Note 3).

On September 12, 2017, 2,500,000 shares of comtook were issued pursuant to the Altum licen
agreement (Note 4(a)).

OnSeptember 18, 2017, 4,623,825 shares of commoR stere issued upon conversion of conver
debenture (Note 6).

On October 26, 2017, 100,000 shares of common steck issued pursuant to a promissory note is
(Note 8(b)).

In October 2017, the Company received proceed8rtgt$223,000 pursuant to private placements fe



issuance of 2,230,000 shares of common stock aica pf $0.10 per share. 330,000 shares of cor
stock were issued on October 30 and 1,900,0@deshof common stock were issued on Novemkt
2017. On November 2, 2017, 200,000 shares of constank related to share issue costs on this p
placement were issued.

(h) On October 31, 2017, the Company settled 5 0f accounts payabtérough the issuance of 92,
shares of common stock (Note 12(d)), which wereeddson November 2, 2017.

(i) On November 7, 2017, 50,000 shares of comstock were issued for services rendered.

() Effective December 15, 2017, th@i@pany closed a private placement for an aggregfa®®5,000 unit:
consisting of one common share and one half ofstraee purchase warrant, at price of $0.20 perfar
gross proceeds of $101,000. On November 21, 20,080 shares of common stoakd 190,000 she
purchase warrants were issued. On December 18, 2857000 shares of common stock and 62,500
purchase warrants were issued. Finder's fee cedsafta cash payment of $5,050 and issuance o6¢
units, consisting of one commeahare and one half of one share purchase warraribedember 18, 201
25,250 shares of common stock and 12,625 shar&gseavarrants related to the finder's fee wereeidsu

During the year ended January 31, 2017:

(k) On February 102016, the Company issued 100,000 shares of conmstumk to service providers -
services provided valued at $68,000. The valud®fcommon stock was based on the market pricee
stock on the date of issuance.

() On February 29, 2016, Mzh 31, 2016, May 2, 2016, May 31, 2016, June 2862 August 2, 2016 a
August 30, 2016, the Company issued 25,000 shdremramon stock on each of these dates t
Company’s CEO as monthly compensation valued at0®05 $13,750, $7,500, $6,000, 45, $3,75
and $3,250, respectively. The value of the comntockswas based on the market price of the stocthe
date of issuance.

(m) In June 2016, 600,000 shares of common stock vesteed to service providers and valued at $14
based on the market price of the stock on the ddtssuances.

(n) On July 31, 2016 and January 31, 2017, 25,000 shafreommon stock, valued at $3,750 and $2
respectively, previously held in escrow were redelak a member of the Compangsientific Advison
Board (“SAB member”). The value of the common steas based on the market price of the stock ¢
date of issuance.
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10. Share Purchase Warrants

The following table summarizes the continuity cashpurchase warrants:

Weighted
Number Average
of Exercise

Warrants Price




Balance, January 31, 2017 434,62. 0.1C
Granted (Note 9(j)) 265,12! 0.3t
Expired (434,62) 0.1

Balance, January 31, 2018 265,12! 0.3t

As at January 31, 2018, the following share purehearrants were outstanding:

Number of Warrants Exercise Price $ Expiry Date
190,00( 0.3t May 20, 2019
75,12¢ 0.3t June 14,2019

11. Stock Options

Effective December 30, 2015, the Company adoptstbek option plan. Under this plan, the Company
may grant options to its directors, officers, enygles and consultants up to an amount as deterrbined
the Company and will be no more than a percentfs outstanding common stock as may be required
by the stock exchange the Company is listed withe Exercise price of the stock options will be
determined by the Company and will be no less #rnminimum exercise price as may be required by
the stock exchange the Company is listed with.

The following table summarizes the continuity of thompany’s stock options:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Number of Price Contractual  Value
Options (US$) Life (years) (US$)

Outstanding, January 31, 2016 6,200,001 0.1C 3.€ 32,00(
Granted 11,320,83 0.4¢ 4.4 36,59¢
Forfeited (2,000,00) (0.10 - -

Outstanding, January 31, 2017 15,520,83 0.3¢ 4.2 68,59¢
Granted 100,00( 0.3¢ 4.7¢ 163,00(!
Forfeited (2,000,00) (0.70 - -

Outstanding, January 31, 2018 13,620,83 0.34 3.2¢ 22,917,755
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11. Stock Options (continued)



The fair value of stock-based compensation expesmseestimated using the Black-Scholes option mgicin
model and the following assumptions:

Risk- Expectec
free Expected Life
Expected Interest Dividend (in
Volatility Rate Yield years)
200,000 options expiring on November 30, 20 415% 1.48% 0% 3.8
5,250,000 options expiring on February 22, 20 38&% 1.48% 0% 4.3
29,000 options expiring on May 2, 2021 37% 1.7% 0% 3.2
4,000,000 options expiring on December 14, 2 42€% 2.1(% 0% 5.C
41,833 options expiring on January 23, 2021 428% 1.94% 0% 5.C
100,000 options expiring on November 14, 202 382% 1.7¢% 0% 4.8

Additional information regarding stock options dslanuary 31, 2018, is as follows:

Options
Outstanding Options Exercisable Exercise Price $ Expiry Date
November 30,
A 200,00( 0.2¢ 2020
December 14,
4,000,00 4,000,001 0.1¢ 2020
5,250,001 5,250,00I 0.7¢ February 22, 202
29,00( 29,00( 0.3¢4 May 2, 2021
December 14,
400,20 4,000,001 0.1 2021
41,83: 41,83: 0.0t January 23, 202.
November 14,
LB 25.00( 0.3¢ 2022
13,620,83 13,545,83

$112,147 of stock-based compensation have yet tedumgnized and will be recognized in future pesiod

12. Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures

January  January

31, 31,
2018 2017
$ $
Supplemental disclosures:
Interest paid - -
Income tax paid - -
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Capital contribution through forgiveness of debt 552,88t -
Common stock issued for finders’ fee 39,67: -
Common stock issued for settlement of accountshjaya 35,15:¢ -
Common stock issued for settlement of convertilgleehture 601,09 -
Common stock issued for intangible asset 262,50( -
Debt discounts on convertible debt - 174,36-
Promissory note issued for settlement of accrutdisa 200,00t -

Common stock received and constructively retiredlisposition o
assets 380,00( -
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13. Related Party Transactions

@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

As at January 31, 2018, the Company owed6$4(Z017 -$4,154) to a director of the Company, whic
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and due on demand.

As at January 31, 2018, the Company owed (80il7 —$18,421) to the Company’s past Chief Exect
Officer.

On September 12, 2017, the Company entered intteasing agreement with Altum, a party relate
way of common director and officers, whereby thenpany acquired worldwide rights to the BiPhas
transdermal drug delivery technology ftite development and commercialization of Cannabs
Cannabidiol and Tetrahydrocannabinol products (Ni¢&). As at January 31, 2018, the Company ¢
Altum $5,337 (2017 - $nil) for expenses paid ondebf the Company, which was repaid subsequent to
year enc

During the year ended January 31, 2018, a capitaribution amounting to $552,888 was made by
officers who forgave accrued management fees. ditiad, $35,153 of accounts payable due to a cory
controlled by the Company’s Chief Financial Officzegre settled for 92,384 shares of common stock.

14. Income Taxes

The Company has approximately $7.7 million of napital losses carried forward to offset taxable
income in future years which expire beginning iscéil 2029. The income tax benefit differs from the
amount computed by applying the Canadian federdl @uovincial statutory rates to net loss before
income taxes for the years ended January 31, 20d.2@17, respectively, as a result of the following

2018 2017
$ $
Net loss before tax 121,18: 6,329,02
Statutory rate 26.(% 26.(%
Expected tax recovery 31,507 1,645,54
Lower effective tax rate on losses in U.S. juridic (1,45%) (2,53¢)
Permanent differences and other 5,95( (1,380,77)
Expenses deductible for tax purposes 28 35
Current period losses not recognized (36,027)  (262,27)

Income tax provision - -

The significant components of deferred income tssets and liabilities as at January 31, 2018 aid,20
after applying enacted corporate income tax ratesas follows:

2018 2017
$ $




Share issue costs 7,041 -
Non-capital losses carried forward 2,004,360 2,351,70;!
Valuation allowance (2,011,41) (2,351,70).

Net deferred tax as: _ _
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14. Income Taxes (continued)

The following table lists the fiscal year in whithe loss was incurred and the expiration date ef th
operating loss:

Non-
Capital
Loss
Expiry Date $
2029 353,466
2030 63,43(
2031 113,43¢
2032 535,16¢
2033 -
2034 558,95¢
2035 1,185,38:!
2036 3,772,474
2037 1,030,79..
2038 95,57(
7,708,683

15. Subsequent Events

Effective February 28, 2018, the Company issuedngsory notes for up to CDN $1,000,000 which
accrue interest at 10% per annum and mature onnbleme29, 2022. CDN$557,000 was advanced to the
Company, which was repaid with proceeds from tadace of senior secured convertible debentures on
February 28, 2018.

Effective February 28, 2018, the Company issueibssecured convertible debentures with a convarsio
price of $1.74 per common share for aggregate gromseeds of CDN$5,000,000 (the "Offering"). The
convertible debentures will bear interest at the o 10% per annum, payable quarterly, and wilture

12 months following the date of their issuance. iBeigg on the date that is four months and one day
following the issuance of the convertible debergurtne Company may force the conversion of the
principal amount of the then outstanding convegtitiébentures at the conversion price on not less3b
days’ notice should the daily volume weighted ager#&rading price of the shares of common stock be
greater than $2.50 for any 20 consecutive tradiags n the Canadian Stock Exchange, or such other
exchange our common shares are principally traded.



On February 28, 2018, the Company completed thaisitign of ERS Holdings, LLC (“ERS") pursuant

to an Exchange Agreement dated as of February(I® @mong the Company, ERS and the members of
ERS. As consideration for the purchase, the Compaity $333,333 in cash on closing, issued 5,000,000
shares of common stock and will pay an additiorg83$333 six and twelve (12) months after closing.
Financial consideration include royalties on futarmual net sales.

On March 2, 2018, the Company completed the adensbf Thrudermic, LLC (“Thrudermic”) and
worldwide rights to Thrudermic’s patented TransdarmNanotechnology for the development and
commercialization of transdermal cannabinoids pamstio an Exchange Agreement dated as of March 2,
2018 among the Company, Dr. Joseph Borovsky, DoniceLurya and Thrudermic. As consideration for
the purchase, the Company paid $1 in cash on ¢gasid issued 500,000 shares of our common stock.

On March 12, 2018, the Company granted 200,00@optio purchase common stock to a third party with
exercise price of $1.76 Canadian dollars per shaqgiry on March 11, 2023 and equal monthy vesting
over 12 months.

On March 14, 2018 and April 4, 2018, the Comparsyésl 75,000 and 62,500 shares of common stock,
respectively, to third parties for services rendef@n March 31, 2018, the Company issued 44,08f&sha
of common stock pursuant to employment agreememtisrexl into upon the acquisitions of ERS and

Thrudermic.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountasion Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There were no disagreements related to accountingiples or practices, financial statement disates internal
controls or auditing scope or procedure duringtite fiscal years and interim periods, including therim period
up through the date the relationship ended.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Management's Report on Disclosure Controls and Pedcires

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange dwatmanagement evaluated the effectiveness ofdhbigil and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedagof January 31, 2018 and determined that they wet
effective.

Disclosure controls and procedures refer to cositenid other procedures designed to ensure thatmiafmn

required to be disclosed in the reports we filesapbmit under the Securities Exchange Act is reahrgeocessed,
summarized and reported within the time periodscifipe in the rules and forms of the SEC and thaths
information is accumulated and communicated tormanagement, including our president (our princgpacutive
officer) and our chief financial officer (our pripal financial officer and principal accounting icfr), as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosure. In designing and evaluating disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizearnkatontrols and procedures, no matter how weligsthed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assuraneehi¢ving the desired control objectives, and mamamt is
required to apply its judgment in evaluating anglementing possible controls and procedures.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control ovéiinancial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishingraaithtaining adequate internal control over finahgorting.

Under the supervision and with the participation cfr management, including our president (our [giadc
executive officer) and our chief financial offiqgur principal financial officer and principal aegding officer), we



conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofiati@érnal control over financial reporting as ofidary 31, 2018
using the criteria established internal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibrdeficiencies, in internal control over finariciaporting,
such that there is a reasonable possibility thaagerial misstatement of our company’s annual tarim financial
statements will not be prevented or detected oimaly basis. In its assessment of the effectiversdssternal
control over financial reporting as of January 3218, our company determined that there were cba#ficiencies
that constituted material weaknesses, as deschibledy:

1. We did not maintain appropriate financial reportiegntrols— As of January 31, 2018, our company
not maintained sufficient internal controls overafincial reporting for the financial repimg process. As
January 31, 2018, our company did not have sufficfmancial reporting controls with respect to
segregation of incompatible duties related to thiéita to post adjusting journal entries and accessul
company’s assets.

Accordingly, our company concluded that these adntieficiencies resulted in a reasonable posgibilitat a
material misstatement of the annual or interimricial statements will not be prevented or detectiedx timely
basis by the company’s internal controls.

As a result of the material weaknesses describestealimanagement has concluded that our compantgsnal

control over financial reporting was not effecti@e of January 31, 2018 based on criteria estadlishinternal
Control—Integrated Frameworiksued by COSO.
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Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC, our independentsteged public auditors, was not required to arsl i@t issued
an attestation report concerning the effectiverméssur internal control over financial reporting esJanuary 31,
2018 pursuant to temporary rules of the Securére Exchange Commission that permit our comparprawide
only management’s report in this annual report.

Changes in Internal Controls

During the period ended January 31, 2018, there werchanges in our internal control over finan@glorting that
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finantraporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

On February 5, 2015, we accepted the resignatiddroAhmad Doroudian as our President and ChiefcEtiee
Officer of our company. Dr. Ahmad Doroudian remaéngdirector and serves as Chairman of the Boardddfition,
Dr. Hamid Doroudian resigned as a director of campany. The resignations of Dr. Ahmad Doroudian Bnd
Hamid Doroudian were not the result of any disagremts with our company regarding our operationdicies,
practices or otherwise.

Also on February 5, 2015, Dr. Barbara-Jean Borm&ennedy (BJ Bormann) and Dr. Wolfgang Renz were
appointed directors of our company. Concurrentlyhwidr. Ahmad Doroudian’s resignation, we appoinfad
Bormann as Chief Executive Officer of our company.

On November 16, 2015, we accepted the resignatioBro BJ Bormann as director. We also accepted the
resignation of Dr. Bormann as our Chief Executiviid®r effective October 16, 2015. Dr. Bormann’signation
was not the result of any disagreements with oorgamy regarding our operations, policies, practrestherwise.

Dr. Ahmad Doroudian, our director and Chairman loé Board, was appointed as our interim Chief Exeeut
Officer.



On November 20, 2015, we appointed Dr. Pravin Gfatli as our new Chief Executive Officer and DicgctAlso
on the same date, we accepted the resignation .oAlbmad Doroudian as interim Chief Executive OfficBr.
Doroudian remained as Chairman of the board. Onugelp 1, 2016, Dr. Doroudian became our Chief Besss$n
Officer.

On November 18, 2016, we accepted the resignatfodro Ahmad Doroudian as a member of our Audit
Committee. Concurrently, we appointed Dr. Wolfgdenz to the Audit Committee. On November 24, 2@7,
Ahmad Doroudian was appointed to the Audit Comraitte

On September 11, 2017, we accepted the resignatibm. Pravin Chaturvedi as our Chief Executivei€Hf and
Director. On the same date, we appointed Dr. Rafiiankham as our new Chief Executive Officer.
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PART IlI
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance
All directors of our company hold office until theext annual meeting of the security holders or|uhigir
successors have been elected and qualified. Thesffof our company are appointed by our boawdiretctors and
hold office until their death, resignation or rerab¥rom office. Our directors and executive offigetheir ages,

positions held, and duration as such, are as fstiow

Date First Elected

Name Position Heldwith the Company Age or Appointed

Dr. Ahmad Doroudian Chairman, Secretary, Chief Business Officer an 57 September 17, 2007
Director

Dr. Patrick Frankham  Chief Executive Officer and Director 46 November 20, 2015

Moira Ong Chief Financial Officer 43 December 26, 2010

Dr. Wolfgang Renz Director 48 February 5, 2015

Business Experience

The following is a brief account of the educatiow dusiness experience during at least the pastyfars of each
director, executive officer and key employee of oampany, indicating the person’s principal occigratluring
that period, and the name and principal businesiseobrganization in which such occupation and egmpent were
carried out.

Dr. Ahmad Doroudian — Chairman, Secretary, Chief Biness Officer and Director

Dr. Ahmad Doroudian was as our appointed presidamgf Executive Officer and Director on Septembér 2007
and as Chief Executive Officer and secretary ondd&0, 2011. He resigned as President, Chief Execifficer
and Secretary on August 30, 2011 and was re-amggbas President, Chief Executive Officer and Sacyein July

24, 2014. Dr. Doroudian subsequently resigned asidnt and Chief Executive Officer on Februarg®l5 and
was appointed as Chairman on that date. Currebity,Ahmad Doroudian acts as our company’s Chairman,
Secretary, Chief Business Officer and Director.

Prior to joining us, Dr. Doroudian was involvedearly stage financing and management of private parudicly
listed companies. From 1997 to 2004, he actedeashtef executive officer, chairman, vice chairnaand director
of PanGeo Pharma, Inc. (now PendoPharm, a divisidhharmascience Inc.), a TSX-listed company fodniolg
Dr. Doroudian which received over $100 million dof in financing. From 2004 through 2007, Dr. Dalian also
served as the president of, Rayan Pharma Inc.xporter of pharmaceuticals to Eastern Europe. FPO®6 to
2008, Dr. Doroudian was owner and chief executifiicer of ABF Pharmacy, a group of successful tetai



pharmacies. Dr. Doroudian was also the chief exesubfficer of Merus Labs International Inc., a siadty
pharmaceutical company engaged in the acquisitidrieensing of pharmaceutical products.

Dr. Patrick Frankham —Director

Dr. Patrick Frankham was appointed as directorunfammpany on July 24, 2014 and as Chief Exec@ffieer on
September 11, 2017. Dr. Frankham has over 22 yéargperience in the biopharmaceutical and seniitdisstries.
Prior to joining Pivot Pharmaceuticals he was ExgeuDirector, Healthcare Innovation, Boehringegdtheim
GmbH. He has also founded several multinationaltheare startup enterprises including healthcaferination
technology, services and pharmaceuticals compamles.professional experience includes public antape
companies as well as multinational corporations.hide developed pharmaceutical products in sevieeahpeutic
areas and interacted with global regulatory autiesti Notable prior organizations where he heldréasing
leadership roles include, Phoenix InternationaleLiGciences (MDS Pharma Services), Endoceutics Inc.,
AeternaZentaris, BioAxone Biosciences, & ICON Qiali Research. Dr Frankham obtained his PhD in mtdec
endocrinology (Université Laval, Canada), and haagis MBA in Finance (University of Liverpool, UK). &/
appointed Dr. Frankham to our board due to his waind in the biopharmaceutical industry.

Moira Ong — Chief Financial Officer

Moira Ong was appointed as our Chief Financial €ffion December 26, 2010. Ms. Ong has more thae&® of
experience in public company accounting and awagiorting. From 2010 through 2012, Ms. Ong was Hisovice
president of finance of Merus Labs Internationat.lna specialty pharmaceutical company engagedhén t
acquisition and licensing of pharmaceutical progué€rom 2005 until 2010, Ms. Ong was senior manadex
global accounting firm in charge of completion afancial statements for Canadian publicly listednpanies.
From 2003 to 2005 she served as financial conduftana private financial planning company. Ms. Ongs a
manager in the banking and securities group abbagjlaccounting firm in New York from 2000 to 2008s. Ong
obtained her Chartered Professional Accountantgdasbn in 1999 and her Chartered Financial Analyst
designation in 2003.
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Dr. Wolfgang Renz - Director

Dr. Wolfgang Renz was appointed as a director af @ampany on February 5, 2015. Dr. Wolfgang Renz is
president of international business at Physiciarterdctive. Formerly, he served as corporate viesigent of
business model & healthcare innovation at Boehringgelheim, one of the world’s largest pharmaamlti
companies. For over a decade, he has been invaivddveloping medicines and technology to help pedgad
healthier, more productive lives. At Boehringeretigeim, he led a team of specialists to find, tastl develop the
disruptive technologies that will shape the waylthezare will be delivered in the future. In additj he also serves
as adjunct professor of surgery at McGill UniversitFaculty of Medicine in Montreal, Canada. Dr.nRéholds a
medical degree and a Ph.D. from Freiburg Univerasitst is board certified in Germany in emergencyinieé.

Family Relationships

There are no other family relationships between @ngur directors, executive officers and propod@dctors or
executive officers.

Conflicts of Interest

Dr. Doroudian is a co-founder and chief executiffecer of Altum Pharmaceuticals Inc., a company ayed in the
research, development and commercialization of Inmv@rmaceutical products.

Dr. Renz is president of international busines®laysicians Interactive and also serves as adjumdegsor of
surgery at McGill University’s Faculty of Medicirie Montreal, Canada.



While we do not anticipate that these activitie§ sdmpete with our business, Dr. Doroudian and Renz may
have pre-existing fiduciary duties with one or mareganizations and may not agree to present bisines
opportunities or research data to us unless othiiies have first declined to accept them or cotes to their
release. Accordingly, they may have a conflict werest in determining to which entity a particularsiness
opportunity should be presented.

Our directors are not obligated to commit theirdiand attention exclusively to our business anchraingly, they
may encounter a conflict of interest in allocatthgir time between our operations and those ofrdbiisinesses.
Our directors devote their time on an as neededs.bA# of our directors, in the course of theithet business
activities, may become aware of investment andrssi opportunities which may be appropriate fosgmeation to
us as well as other entities to which they owedadiary duty. As a result, they may have conflictsnterest in

determining to which entity a particular businegpartunity should be presented. They may also @ fthure

become affiliated with entities engaged in busirsgivities similar to those we intend to conduct.

In general, officers and directors of a corporatoa required to present business opportunitiescarporation if:

« the corporation could financially undertake the appnity;

« the opportunity is within the corporation’s linelmisiness; and

« it would be unfair to the corporation and its steakiers not to bring the opportunity to the attemtdf the
corporation.
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Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

To the best of our knowledge, none of our directwrexecutive officers has, during the past terrgea

1. been convicted in a criminal proceeding ombggbject to a pendingiminal proceeding (excluding traf
violations and other minor offences);

2. had any bankruptcy petition filed by or against lthusiness or property of the person, or of anyngaship
corporation or business association of which he avgeneral @rtner or executive officer, either at the t
of the bankruptcy filing or within two years pritw that time;

3. been subject to any order, judgment, or decreesutmdequently reversed, suspended or vacatedy afoam
of competent jurisdiction rofederal or state authority, permanently or teraptyr enjoining, barring
suspending or otherwise limiting, his involvememtainy type of business, securities, futures, conitiest
investment, banking, savings and loan, or insuramtivities, or tobe associated with persons engage
any such activity;

4. been found by a court of competent jurisdictioraigivil action or by the SEC or the Commodity Fet
Trading Commission to have violated a federal atessecurities or commodities lawdatihe judgment hi
not been reversed, suspended, or vacated;

5. been the subject of, or a party to, any federadtate judicial or administrative order, judgmergcie, ¢
finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended cated (not including anyettlement of a civil proceedil
among private litigants), relating to an allegedladion of any federal or state securities or cormitirs law
or regulation, any law or regulation respectingfinial institutions or insurance companies inclgdisut na
limited to, a temporary or permanent injunctiordearof disgorgement or restitution, civil money gk ot
temporary or permanent cease-atedist order, or removal or prohibition order, oy daw or regulatio
prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connemti with any business entity; or

6. been the subject of, or a party to, any sanctioorder, not subsequently reversed, suspended atedico
any self-regulatory organization (as defined int®ec3(a)(26) of the Exchange Act (15 U.SX8c(a)(26)),
any registered entity (as defined in Section 1@)(f the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. 1(a)[Rr
any equivalent exchange, association, entity oamegation that has disciplinary authority overniember
or persons associated with a member.



Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities ERange Act of 1934

Our common stock is not registered pursuant toi@ed2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, rasraded (the
“Exchange Act”). Accordingly, our officers, direesy and principal stockholders are not subjecht lieneficial
ownership reporting requirements of Section 16{ah® Exchange Act.

Code of Ethics

Effective April 20, 2011, our company’s board ofetitors adopted a code of business conduct andsetiat
applies to, among other persons, members of oudhafadirectors, our company’s officers includingrgresident,
chief executive officer and chief financial officegmployees, consultants and advisors. As adopigdcode of
business conduct and ethics sets forth writterdstiats that are designed to deter wrongdoing apdaimote:

1. honest and ethical conduct, including the ethiaidiing of actual or apparent conflicts of interbstwee
personal and professional relationships;

2. full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandableldisure in reports and documents that we file wathsubmi
to, the Securities and Exchange Commission anthier gpublic communications made by us;

3. compliance with applicable governmental lawgswand regulations;

4. the prompt internal reporting of violations of tbede of business conduct and ethics to an appteg&son (
persons identified in the code of business condndtethics; and

5. accountability for adherence to the code ofirss conduct and ethics.

Our code of business conduct and ethics requimasng other things, that all of our company’s serfficers
commit to timely, accurate and consistent disclesolr information; that they maintain confidentiafdrmation;
and that they act with honesty and integrity.

In addition, our code of business conduct and steiophasizes that all employees, and particularnyjos officers,
have a responsibility for maintaining financialégtity within our company, consistent with generakccepted
accounting principles, and federal and state seéesilaws. Any senior officer who becomes awararof incidents
involving financial or accounting manipulation ather irregularities, whether by witnessing the degit or being
told of it, must report it to our company. Any faié to report such inappropriate or irregular canad others is to
be treated as a severe disciplinary matter. lg&rst our company policy to retaliate against smgjvidual who
reports in good faith the violation or potentiabletion of our company’s code of business conduct ethics by
another.
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Our code of business conduct and ethics was indladean exhibit to our annual report on Form 10kedfwith the
SEC on May 11, 2011. We will provide a copy of ttmdle of business conduct and ethics to any persibrowy
charge, upon request. Requests can be sent tot Pharmaceuticals Inc., 1275 West 6th Avenue, Vaven
British Columbia V6H 1A6.

Committees of the Board

All proceedings of our board of directors were agetdd by resolutions consented to in writing bytladl directors
and filed with the minutes of the proceedings af tlirectors. Such resolutions consented to in ngitby the
directors entitled to vote on that resolution abheeting of the directors are, according to the c@te laws of the
state of Nevada and the bylaws of our companyabd and effective as if they had been passedateting of the
directors duly called and held.

Our company currently does not have nominating, pgmation committees or committees performing simil
functions nor does our company have a written natitig, compensation or audit committee charter. léuard of



directors does not believe that it is necessahate such committees because it believes thauti@iéns of such
committees can be adequately performed by ourtdirec

Our company does not have any defined policy orceulare requirements for shareholders to submit
recommendations or nominations for directors. Tinectbrs believe that, given the early stage ofarwrelopment,

a specific nominating policy would be premature afdittle assistance until our business operatidegelop to a
more advanced level. Our company does not currdraiye any specific or minimum criteria for the ¢iec of
nominees to the board of directors and we do net feny specific process or procedure for evaluatingh
nominees. Our directors assess all candidates,hetheatubmitted by management or shareholders, arice ma
recommendations for election or appointment.

A shareholder who wishes to communicate with ousroof directors may do so by directing a writteqguest
addressed to our president, at the address apgemarithe first page of this annual report.

Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our board of directors has determined that noneuofthe members of our audit committee qualifieamasaudit
committee financial expert" as defined in Iltem 40{®)(ii) of Regulation S-K. Dr. Wolfgang Renz imdependent”
as the term is used in Item 7(d)(3)(iv) of Schedidé under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934mended.

Our company has a formal audit committee which fwasied in May 2010, but currently does not havéarfcial
expert. Our audit committee consists of Dr. Patficknkham, Dr. Wolfgang Renz and Dr. Ahmad Dorondia
Financial information relating to quarterly repowtas disseminated to all board members for revigve audited
financial statements for the years ended Januarg@®18 and 2017 were provided to each member obdaed in
which any concerns by the members were directedaiotagement and the auditors.

We believe that the members of our board of audiihrittee and our entire board of directors areectilvely

capable of analyzing and evaluating our finandialesnents and understanding internal controls aodeglures for
financial reporting. We believe that retaining adépendent director who would qualify as an "agditnmittee
financial expert" would be overly costly and burseme and is not warranted in our circumstancesngive early
stages of our development and the fact that we havegenerated any material revenues to date. ditien, we

currently do not have nominating, compensation wafitacommittees or committees performing similandtions

nor do we have a written nominating, compensatioauwait committee charter. Our board of directoogsd not
believe that it is necessary to have such comnsitieause it believes the functions of such coraastcan be
adequately performed by our board of directors.

Our company has an audit committee charter whichadwpted and approved by our board of directorglay 25,
2010.
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Iltem 11. Executive Compensation
The particulars of the compensation paid to thie¥ahg persons:

(&) our principal executive officer;

(b) each of our two most highly compensated exeeutffice's who were serving as executive officers at thd
of the years ended January 31, 2018 and 2017; and

(c) up to two additional individuals for whom disclosurvould have been provided under (b) but for tlut tlaa
the individual was not serving as our executivéceffat the end of the years ended January 31, 2042017,



who we will collectively refer to as the named extaee officers of our company, are set out in théofving
summary compensation table, except that no dis@adsuyprovided for any named executive officer,eotthan our
principal executive officers, whose total compeiwsatlid not exceed $100,000 for the respectiveafigear:

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Non-

Equity  Nonqualified

Incentive Deferred

Plan Compensa- All
Name Stock Option Compensa- tion Other
and Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards tion Earnings Compens-
Position Year (9$) %) %) (%) (%) %) ation ($) Total ($)
Dr. Patricl
Frankhart® 2018 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
President, Chie
Executive Office
and Director 2017 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dr. Pravir . . . . . .
Chaturved? 2018 117,00 NI Nil il Nil Nil NIl 117,00
Past Presideni 2017 125,00( Nil 54,13: 860,70! Nil Nil Nil 1,039,83"’
Chief Executive
Officer and
Director
Moira Ong® 2018 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
cmefFnancial 5017 Nilg Nl N 430,35 Nil Nil NI 4a0.35:
Br- _ Ahmac 5510 NilNil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
oroudian
Chairman, 2017 Nil®  Nil Nil 860,70! Nil Nil Nil  860,70!

Secretary, Chief
Business Office
and Director

(1) Dr. Frankham was appointed as our presiderief@&xecutive Officer and Director on September2d17.
(2) Dr. Chaturvedi was appointed aur president, Chief Executive Officer and Diogatn November 20, 20
and resigned as Chief Executive Officer and DineotoSeptember 11, 2017.
(3) Ms. Ong was appointed as our Chief Financidicef on December 26, 2010.
(4) Dr. Doroudian was gginted as our President, Chief Executive Officed ®irector on September 17, 2(
and as Chief Executive Officer and Secretary ondd&80, 2011. He resigned as President, Chief Exe
Officer and Secretary on August 30, 2011 and waappointed agresident, Chief Executive Officer
secretary on July 24, 2014. Dr. Doroudian subsettyiessigned as President and Chief Executive @ffior
February 5, 2015 and was appointed as Chairmamatndate. Currently Dr. Ahmad Doroudian acts as
company'’s Chairman, Secretary, Chief Business &ffimd Director.
(5) Amounts incurred as salaries for the year endedalsr81, 2017 of $200,000 for Ms. Ong and $200,fa0
Dr. Doroudian were forgiven on July 31, 2017.

Other than as set out below, there are no arrangsnoe plans in which we provide pension, retiretr@ansimilar

benefits for directors or executive officers. Ounedtors and executive officers may receive shations at the
discretion of our board of directors in the futwe do not have any material bonus or profit slgaplans pursuant
to which cash or non-cash compensation is or maydie to our directors or executive officers, exciyat share
options may be granted at the discretion of ourdboédirectors.
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Stock Option Plan

Our company has stock option plan which was adogtedapproved by our shareholders on December(3,. 2

Stock Options/SAR Grants

During our fiscal year ended January 31, 2018, endt grant any stock options to officers and clioes.

During our fiscal year ended January 31, 2017:

- 5,000,000 stock options with exercise price of 80and maturity on February 22, 2021 to officers

directors, including our past President, Dr. Chagdi.

« 4,000,000 stock options with exercise price of 8ahd maturity on December 14, 2021revgranted t

two of our directors.
0
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The particulars of unexercised options, stock tfest not vested and equity incentive plan awardo@ornamed

executive officers are set out in the followingléab

Options Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Equity Plan
Incentive Awards:
Plan Market
Awards: or
Number  Payout
Equity Number Market of Value
Incentive of Value Unearned of
Plan Shares  of Shares, Unearned
Awards: or Units Shares Unitsor  Shares,
Number of  Number of  Number of of or Other  Units or
Securities  Securities ~ Securities Stock  Units Stock Other
Underlying Underlying  Underlying That of That Rights Rights
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Have Have That That
Options Options Unearned Exercise Option Not Not Have Not Have Not
#) #) Options Price Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisable #) ($) Date #) (%) #) %)
Dr. Decembe
Patrick 14. 2020
Frankhan 2,000,001 2,000,00! N/A'$ 0.1C ' N/A N/A N/A N/A
Chief
. Decembe
Ext_acu'uve 14. 2021
Officer 2,000,00! 2,000,001 N/A'$ 0.1C ' N/A N/A N/A N/A
Moira
OngChief February
Financial 22,2021
Officer 1,000,001 1,000,00 N/A'$ 0.7C N/A N/A N/A N/A




Dr.

Ahmad

Doroudiar February

Chief 22,2021

Business

Officer 2,000,00i 2,000,00! N/A' $ 0.7C N/A N/A N/A N/A
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Option Exercises

During our fiscal year ended January 31, 2018 ethesre no options exercised by our named officers.
Compensation of Directors

Other than set out below, we do not have any ageafor compensating our directors for their sesiin their
capacity as directors, although such directorseapected in the future to receive stock optionpumchase shares
of our common stock as awarded by our board otttirs.

We have determined that Dr. Wolfgang Renz is aepeddent director, as that term is used in Iteny(3)(v)(B)
of Schedule 14A under tiecurities Exchange Act of 19%% amended, and as defined by Rule 4200(a)(1teof
NASDAQ Marketplace Rules.

Effective November 19, 2015, we entered into dioeservices agreements with our directors, Dr. \gaoiy Renz
and Dr. Patrick Frankham. Pursuant to the agreesreatth director shall provide director servicesubcompany
for a period of 24 months in consideration for D00 options to purchase our common stock toraeted as
follows: 2,000,000 options on each of December208,5, December 15, 2016, December 15, 2017, Deaebihe
2018 and December 15, 2019. Each agreement masrinenated by our company without notice for causeyy
any party with 30 days prior notice. No options evgranted on December 15, 2017 as such grants wawve
exceeded the limitations set out in our Stock QpRdtan.

Pension, Retirement or Similar Benefit Plans

There are no arrangements or plans in which weigeopension, retirement or similar benefits forediors or
executive officers. We have no material bonus afiprsharing plans pursuant to which cash or noshca
compensation is or may be paid to our directorexacutive officers, except that stock options maygbanted at
the discretion of the board of directors or a cotteaithereof.

Indebtedness of Directors, Senior Officers, Execute Officers and Other Management

None of our directors or executive officers or asgociate or affiliate of our company during th&t lavo fiscal

years, is or has been indebted to our company by of@uarantee, support agreement, letter of credibther
similar agreement or understanding currently ontitay.
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Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters



The following table sets forth, as of May 1, 20&&tain information with respect to the benefiaainership of our
common shares by each shareholder known by us thebdeneficial owner of more than 5% of our common
shares, as well as by each of our current direeogdsexecutive officers as a group. Each persosdiasvoting and
investment power with respect to the shares of comstock, except as otherwise indicated. Benefmaiership
consists of a direct interest in the shares of comstock, except as otherwise indicated.

Percentag
Amount and Nature of of
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Beneficial Ownership Class®

Dr. Ahmad Doroudiaf

4172 Doncaster Way

Vancouver BC V6S 1V9 23,050,888 CommonShares 26.1%
Dr. Patrick Frankhart?’

388 De La Vauvette

Rosemere, QC, J7A 4J7 4,000,000 CommonShares 4.5
Moira Ong“

2392 Lawson Avenue

West Vancouver, BC V7V 2E6 3,092,38#) CommonShares 3.51%
Dr. Wolfgang Ren#?

Am Hochgericht 31 Rheinfelden, Germany 79618 4,000,008” CommonShares 4.50%

Patrick Rolfes'?

1161 N. Anaheim Blvd.

Anaheim, CA 92801 779,763 CommonShares 0.8%%
Joseph Borovsk{?

4843 Gate Post Lane

Wilmington, NC 28412 255,028 CommonShares 0.2%%
Directors and Officers as a Grot” 35,178,059 Common Shares 39.9%%
None

Over 5% Shareholders as a Group Nil Common Shares Nil %

(1) Under Rule 13, a beneficial owner of a security includes angspe who, directly or indirectly, through &
contract, arrangement, understanding, relationgriptherwise has or shares: (i) voting power, Whitclude:
the power to vote, or to direct the vdiof shares; and (ii) investment power, which idelsi the power
dispose or direct the disposition of shares. Geghares may be deemed to be beneficially ownaddrg tha
one person (if, for example, persons share the ptweote or the power tdispose of the shares). In addit
shares are deemed to be beneficially owned by sopef the person has the right to acquire theeshéio
example, upon exercise of an option) within 60 dafy¢he date as of which the information is proddén
computing the percentage ownership of any persmnamount of shares outstanding is deemed to iadhx
amount of shares beneficially owned by such pefsmal only such person) by reason of these acaui
rights. As a result, the percentage of tanding shares of any person as shown in this tdbks nc
necessarily reflect the person’s actual ownershiyating power with respect to the number of shast
common stock actually outstanding on April 28, 20A% of April 28, 2017, there were B8,7,114 shares
our company’s common stock issued and outstanding.

(2) Dr. Ahmad Doroudian was appointed as our Presidemef Executive Officer and Director on Septembé,
2007 and as Chief Executive Officer and SecretaryMarch 30, 2011. He regied as President, Cf
Executive Officer and Secretary on August 30, 2@hH was reppointed as President, Chief Exect
Officer and Secretary on July 24, 2014. Dr. Dorandsubsequently resigned as President and ChieluExe
Officer on Februarp, 2015 and was appointed as Chairman on that Gateently Dr. Ahmad Doroudian a
as our company’s Chairman, Secretary, Chief Busi@dficer and Director.

(3) Includes 17,385,939 shares owned by Dr. Doamyd200,000 shares owned by Khadija Zeliptize spouse ¢
Dr. Ahmad Doroudian, 200,000 shares owned by KiRltarma International Company Ltd., a company
which Dr. Ahmad Doroudian and Ms. Zerouali haversfavoting and investment power, 3,264,950 sl
owned by Sassel Investments Inccampany over which Dr. Ahmad Doroudian has voting énvestmer
power and 2,000,000 options to purchase share® 20 $or a period of five years from February 231&.

(4) Ms. Ong was appointed as our Chief Financidic®f on December 26, 2010.



(5) Includes 2,092,384 shares owned by Ms. Ong and)Q00 options to purchase shares at $0.70 foriadhei
five years from February 23, 2016.

(6) Dr. Patrick Frankham was appointed as Directorwsfampany on July 24, 2014 and as our Chief Exes
Officer on September 11, 2017.

(7) Includes 2,000,000 options to purchase shares.20$0r a period of five years from December 1512@n«
2,000,000 options to purchase shares at $0.10geriad of five years from December 15, 2016.

(8) Dr. Renz was appointed as a Director of ourgamy on February 5, 2015.

(9) Includes 2,000,000 options to purchase shares.20$0r a period of five years from December 1512@n«
2,000,000 options to purchase shares at $0.10geriad of five years from December 15, 2016.

(10)Patrick Rolfes was appointed as President of olly éwned subsidiary, Pivot Naturals, LLC (formef3R<
Holdings, LLC) on March 1, 2018.

(11)Includes 779,763 shares owned by Mr. Rolfes.

(12)Joseph Borovsky was appointed as Vice Presidentluet Formulation on March 1, 2018.

(13)Includes 255,023 shares owned by Mr. Borovsky.
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Changes in Control

We are unaware of any contract or other arrangeorgmtovisions of our Articles or Bylaws the opéwatof which
may at a subsequent date result in a change ofotafitour company. There are not any provisionsun Articles
or Bylaws, the operation of which would delay, dete prevent a change in control of our company.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table sets forth, as of May 1, 20&8¢urities authorized for issuance under our egquitypensation
plan.

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available for
Number of Future
Securities t¢  Weighted- Issuance
be Issued average Under Equity
Upon Exercise Compensatior
Exercise of  Price of Plans
Outstanding Outstanding (Excluding
Options, Options, Securities

Warrants Warrants Reflected in
and Rights and Rights  Column A)

Plan Category (Column A) (Column B) (Column C)

Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsld 13,885,95 $ 0.34 N/A
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechatgers N/A N/A N/A
Total 13,885,95 $ 0.34 N/A

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans, and Director Independence

Except as disclosed herein, no director, executflieer, shareholder holding at least 5% of sharfegsur common
stock, or any family member thereof, had any matenterest, direct or indirect, in any transaction proposed
transaction since the year ended January 31, 2018hich the amount involved in the transactioneaded or



exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or one percenteohvbrage of our total assets at the year-enchéolast three
completed fiscal years.

Director Independence

We currently act with three directors, consistifiddo. Ahmad Doroudian, Dr. Patrick Frankham and Wiolfgang
Renz. Dr. Wolfgang Renz is an independent director.

Our audit committee consists of Dr. Wolfgang Rend Br. Ahmad Doroudian.
We do not have a standing compensation or nommatirmmittee, but our entire board of directors attsuch

capacities.
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Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The aggregate fees billed for the most recentlypletad fiscal year ended January 31, 2018 anchifiscal year
ended January 31, 2018 for professional servicedered by the principal accountant for the audibwf annual
financial statements and review of the financiattesnents included in our quarterly reports on FAG¥Q and
services that are normally provided by the accainta connection with statutory and regulatorynfijs or
engagements for these fiscal periods were as fellow

Year Ended
January January
31, 31,
2018 2017
$ $
Audit Fees 25,00( 24,00(
Audit Related Fees Nil Nil
Tax Fees Nil Nil
All Other Fees Nil Nil
Total 25,00( 24,00(

Our board of directors pre-approves all servicesiged by our independent auditors. All of the abeervices and
fees were reviewed and approved by the board efctdirs either before or after the respective sesviwere
rendered.

Our board of directors has considered the natuleaamount of fees billed by our independent auditéms believes

that the provision of services for activities uatel to the audit is compatible with maintaining ;udependent
auditors’ independence.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(@) Financial Statements



(1) Financial statements for our company are listethénindex under Item 8 of this document

(2) All financial statement schedules are omitted bseeahey are not applicable, not material or thelireg
information is shown in the financial statementsiotes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description

3) Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

3.1 Articles of Incorporation 649186 B.C. Ltd. (incorp@mtby reference from our Registration Statel

on Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)

3.2 “Company_ Act” Memorandum of 649186 B.C. Ltd. Ceciite of Amendment (incorporated
reference from our Registration Statement on Forhfifed on August 7, 2009)

3.3 Certificate of Filing of 649186 B.C. Ltd. (incorged by reference from our Refyation Statement
Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)

3.4 Certificate of Incorporation of 649186 B.C. Ltd. (incorpexh by reference from our Registral
Statement on Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)

3.5 Certificate of Name Change of 649186 B.C. Ltd. terxes Health Corp. (incorporated by refere
from our Registration Statement on Form S-1 filaddmgust 7, 2009)

3.6 Transition Application of Xerxes Health Corp. (imporated by reference from ouReqistratiol
Statement on Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)

3.7 Cettificate of Name Change of Xerxes Health Corp. suibkine Pharmaceuticals Inc. (incorporate
reference from our Registration Statement on Forhrfifed on August 7, 2009)

3.8 Notice of Alteration to Authorized Share Structyiecorporated by reference from our Registre
Statement on Form S-1 filed on August 7, 2009)

3.9 Notice of Alteraion to Authorized Share Structure (incorporateddfgrence to our Current Report
Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2014)

3.10 Notice of Alteration removing P-Existing Company Provisions (incorporated by refeee to ou
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 9, 2014

3.11 Articles (incorporated by reference to our Curri@aport on Form 8-K filed on October 9, 2014)

3.12 Notice of Alteration changing name to Pivot Pharendicals In. (incorporated by reference to
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 17, 2015)

3.13 Certificate_of Name Change of Neurokine Pharmacalsi Inc. to Pivot Pharmaceuticals
(incorporated by reference to our Quarterly ReparEorm 10-Q filed on June 17, 2015)

(20) Material Contracts

101 Non-Exclusive License Agreement with Globe Laborat®iiec. dated June 12008 (incorporated |
reference to our Registration Statement on FormASifed on December 3, 2009)

10.2 Clinical Trial Services Agreement with Virtus Cligil Development (Pty) Limited dated March 1, 2
(incorporated by reference to our Registrationestent on Form S-1/A filed on March 4, 2010)

10.3 Master Service Agreement with Northern Lipids Idated October 2, 2007 (ingmrated by referen
to our Registration Statement on Form S-1/A fileddecember 3, 2009)

10.4 Assignment of Invention (NKX01) dated January 30, 2008 (incorporated by refereto ou
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on Delsen8, 2009)

10.5 Assignment of Invention (NK02) dated April 18, 2008 (incorporated by refeeetm our Reqistratic

Statement on Form S-1/A filed on December 3, 2009)
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10.6 Subscription Agreement with Ahmad Doroudian (inargied by reference to our FormK8filed on
August 12, 2010)
10.7 Debt Settlement Subscription Agreement dated Sdmen?6, 2013 with Ahmad Doroudi




(incorporated by reference to our Quarterly ReparEorm 10-Q filed on December 16, 2013)

10.8 Director Services Agreement dated February 25, 2®ith Barbara-Jean Bormarienned:

(incorporated by reference to our Current Reporfform 8-K filed on March 26, 2015)

Director Services Agreement dated February 25, 20@tb Dr. Patrick Frankham (incorporated

reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed\barch 26, 2015)

10.10 Director Services Agreement dated Rebyy 26, 2015 with Dr. Wolfgang Renz (incorporatey
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed\tarch 26, 2015)

10.11 Consulting Services Agreement dated February 285 20ith Dr. Giora Davidai (incorporated
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed\tarch 26, 2015)

10.12 Director Services Agreement dated November 19, A0itB Dr. Patrick Frakham (incorporated |
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qifia December 15, 2015)

10.13 Director Services Agreement dated November 19, 20itb Dr. Wolfgang Renz (incorporated
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qifia December 15, 2015)

10.14 Consulting Services Agreement dated November 195 A0ith Dr. Giora Davidai (incorporateboly
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qifia December 15, 2015)

10.15 Plan of Merger and Acquisition Agreement between company and IndUS Pharmaceuticals,
dated November 4, 2015 (incorporated by referewmc®ur Current Report on Form K8-filed on
November 23, 2015 and our Current Rejon Form 8-K/A filed on February 3, 2016)

10.16 Employment Agreement dated November 20, 2015 with Dr. Rra@haturvedi (incorporated
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qiifte December 15, 2015)

10.17 Employment Agreement dated February 1, 2016 withAbmad Doroudian (filed on April 29, 20
with our Annual Report on Form 10-K)

10.18 Employment Agreement dated February 1, 2016 withrdM®ng (filed e April 29, 2016 with ot
Annual Report on Form 10-K)

10.19 Consulting Services Agreement dated February 16 2@ih Soho Capital Inc. (filed on April 29, 2C
with our Annual Report on Form 10-K)

10.20 Convertible debenture agreement dated September 2096 with Avro Capital Partners i
(incorporated by reference to our Quarterly ReparEorm 10-Q filed on September 15, 2017)

[y
o
©

10.21 Exchange Agreement betweerr @@mpany, IndUS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Praviat@vedi, date
September 11, 2017 (incorporated by reference tdCowrent Report on Form R-filed on Septemb
12, 2017)

10.22 Licensing Agreement between our company and Altimarfaceuticals Inc. dated September 12,

(incorporated by reference to our Current Reporffomnm 8-K filed on September 12, 2017)

10.23 Debt Forgiveness Agreement dated July 31, 2017 dextwour company and Dr. Ahmad Dorous
(filed on September 15, 2017 with our Quarterly &épn Form 10-Q)

10.24 Debt Forgiveness Agreement dated July 31, 2017 dsxtwour company and Moira Ong (filed
September 15, 2017 with our Quarterly Report omFEdD-Q)

10.25 Debt Forgiveness Agreement datety B, 2017 between our company and Soho Capital(fited or
September 15, 2017 with our Quarterly Report omFd-Q)

10.26 Debt Settlement Agreement dated September 18, Bétlieen our company and Avro Capital Part
Inc. (filed on December 15, 2017 with our QuartdRport on Form 10-Q)

10.27 Collaboration and License Agreement dated SepteriBer2017between our company and Soll
GmbH (filed on December 15, 2017 with our Quart@&gport on Form 10-Q)

10.28 Letter of Intent dated November 7, 2017 betweencoanpany and Thrudermic LLC (filed on Decen
15, 2017 with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q)

10.29 Share Exchange Agreement between our company, E&&ings, LLC and the members of E
Holdings, LLC dated February 10, 2018 (incorpordigdeference to our Current Report on Forid 8-
filed on March 12, 2018)
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10.30 Royalty Agreement between our company and AguaBrewy dated March 1, 2018 (incorporatec
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed\arch 12, 2018)




10.31 Employment Agreement bgeen our company and Patrick Rolfes dated Mar&@018 (incorporated |
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed\arch 12, 2018)

10.32 Share Exchange Agreement between our company, &micl LLC, Dr. Joseph Borovsky and
Leonid Lurya dated March 2, 3018 (incorporated éfgmrence to our Current Report on ForrK Sited
on March 12, 2018)

10.33 Employment Agreement between our company and JdBepivsky dated March 1, 2018 (incorporz
by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-Kdfite March 12, 2018)

10.34 10% Senior Secured Convertible Debenture (CDN$2(8W) due March 2, 2019 (CD: (incorporate
by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-Kdfite March 12, 2018)

10.35 10% Senior Secured Convertible Debenture (CDN$2(8W) due March 2, 2019 (CP)-(incorporate
by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-Kdfilm March 12, 2018)

(31) Rule 13a-14(d)/15d-14(d) Certifications

31.1*% Section 302 Certification under the Sarbanes-OR&letyof 2002 of Principal Executive Officer

31.2* Section 302 Certification under the Sarbanes-OAfletyof 2002 of Principal Financial Officer

(32) Section 1350 Certifications

32.1* Section 906 Certification under the Sarbanes-O&letyof 2002 of Principal Executive Officer

32.2* Section 906 Certification under the Sarbanes-O&letyof 2002 of Principal Financial Officer

99 Additional Exhibits

99.1 Audit Committee Charter (filed on June 17, 2015watir Annual Report on Form 10-K/A)

99.2 Stock Option Plan (filed on November 25, 2015 with Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A)

101* Interactive Data Files

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutne

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES
In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the ExgjgaAct, the registrant caused this report to beesl on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrize

PIVOT PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
(Registrant)

Dated: May 1, 2018 /sl Patrick Frankhat
Dr. Patrick Frankham
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: May 1, 2018 /sl Moira On¢
Moira Ong
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal  Financial = Officer ar
Principal
Accounting Officer)




Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bdigvthe
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

Dated: May 1, 2018 /sl Patrick Frankhat
Dr. Patrick Frankham
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: May 1, 2018 /s/ Ahmad Doroudie
Dr. Ahmad Doroudian
Chairman, Secretary and Director

Dated: May 1, 2018 /sl Wolfgang Rel

Dr. Wolfgang Renz
Director
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. ss 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dr. Patrick Frankham, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fHivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corstainuntrue statement of a material fact or omittie
material fact necessary to make the statements,nratight of the circumstances under which sucteshent
were made, not misleading with respect to the pec@vered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,adiner financial information included in this repdairly
present in all material respects the financial éiol results 6 operations and cash flows of the registral
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) andire responsible for establishing and maintainirggcldsur:
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangeR&itds 13a-15(e) and 13idb{e)) and internal control o\
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actd&ul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant hade:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and praesgder caused suclisdlosure controls and procedures t
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabteformation relating to the registrant, inclog its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us thgre within those entities, particularly duringe
period in which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finak
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopréwide reasonable assurance regardingetiability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finaha@ttements for external purposes in accordandtia
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procees and presented in t



report our conclusions about the effectivenesshefdisclosure controls and procedures, as of theol
the period covered by this report based on sucluatian; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thgisteant's internal control over financial repogtithat occurre
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quaftiee registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the ca$er
annual report) that has materially affected, oreasonably likely to materigl affect, the registran
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiotierna
control over financial reporting, to the registrarguditos and the audit committee of the registrant's ¢had
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfiams):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controér
financial reporting whiclare reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, proce
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signi
role in the registrant's internal control over fia&l reporting.

Date: May 1, 2018

s/ Patrick Frankhar

Dr. Patrick Frankham
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. ss 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Moira Ong certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fHRivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report doescoottain any untrue statement of a material faairoit to state
material fact necessary to make the statements,nratight of the circumstances under which sucteshent
were made, not misleading with respect to the pec@vered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemenid,aginer financial information included in this repdairly
present in all material respects the financial éio results of operations and cash flows of tbgistrant a
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) andire responsible for establishing and maintainirggcldsur:
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangeR&itds 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cowoivel
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actd&ul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant hade:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduressused such disclosure controls and proceduries
designed under our supetiais, to ensure that material information relatiogte registrant, including
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us thgre within those entities, particularly duringe
period in which this report is being prepared,;



(b) Designedsuch internal control over financial reporting, caused such internal control over finar
reporting to be designed under our supervisioprtwide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabf
financial reporting and the preparation of finahattements for external purposes in accordanth
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedis
report our conclusions about the effeetiess of the disclosure controls and proceduresf g end ¢
the period covered by this report based on sucluatian; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regstsanternal control over financial reporting tluatcurre
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quaftiee registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the casar
annual report) that has materially affected, orgasonably likely to materially affect, the registt's
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anbave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorierna
control over financial reporting, to the registfarduditors and the audit committee of the regissaoard ¢
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfioms):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controér
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant's abilibyrecord, proces
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a signi
role in the registrant's internal control over fig&l reporting.
Date: May 1, 2018
/sl Moira Ong

Moira Ong
Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dr. Patrick Frankham, hereby certify, pursuani8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdtoBe906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form X0eof Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. for the year endaduary 31, 2018 (t
"Report") fully complieswith the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(ddhef Securities Exchange Act
1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mess, in all material respects, the financial ctadianc
results of operations of Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Dated: May 1, 2018 /sl Patrick Frankhat
Dr. Patrick Frankham
Chief Executive Officer and Director




(Principal Executive Officer)
Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqdirdy Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signathat appears in typed form within the electronicsi@n of this
written statement required by Section 906, has Ipeevided to Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. and willrbined by
Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. and furnished to theu8iges and Exchange Commission or its staff upsmjuest.

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Moira Ong, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S%&ction 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9Q6&eo
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Pivot Phaceuticals Inc. for the year ended Jaguk, 2018 (th

"Report") fully complies with the requirements afclion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchanged
1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fapresents, in all material respects, the finanoisdition aa
results of operations of Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Dated: May 1, 2018 /sl Moira On¢

Moira Ong

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer ar
Principal Financial Officer)

Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqdirdy Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signathat appears in typed form within the electronicsi@n of this
written statement required by Section 906, has Ipeevided to Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. and willrbained by
Pivot Pharmaceuticals Inc. and furnished to theuBes and Exchange Commission or its staff upEuest.



